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PART I 
  
ITEM 1. Business 
  
Forward Looking Statements 

  
This annual report contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of the federal 

securities laws. These forward-looking statements reflect our current views with respect to, among 
other things, future events and our financial performance. These statements are often, but not 
always, made through the use of words or phrases such as “may,” “might,” “should,” “could,” 
“predict,” “potential,” “believe,” “expect,” “attribute,” “continue,” “will,” “anticipate,” “seek,” 
“estimate,” “intend,” “plan,” “projection,” “goal,” “target,” “outlook,” “aim,” “would,” “annualized” and 
“outlook,” or the negative version of those words or other comparable words or phrases of a future 
or forward-looking nature. These forward-looking statements are not historical facts, and are 
based on current expectations, estimates and projections about our industry, management’s 
beliefs and certain assumptions made by management, many of which, by their nature, are 
inherently uncertain and beyond our control. Accordingly, we caution you that any such forward-
looking statements are not guarantees of future performance and are subject to risks, 
assumptions, estimates and uncertainties that are difficult to predict. Although we believe that the 
expectations reflected in these forward-looking statements are reasonable as of the date made, 
actual results may prove to be materially different from the results expressed or implied by the 
forward-looking statements. 

 
The following factors, among others, could cause actual results to differ materially from 

the anticipated results or other expectations expressed in the forward-looking statements: 

 general economic conditions, either nationally or in our market area, that are worse 
than expected;  

 our ability to maintain higher regulatory capital levels as imposed by the OCC and 
otherwise comply with our MOU with the OCC; 

 competition among depository and other financial institutions;  

 inflation and changes in the interest rate environment that reduce our margins or 
reduce the fair value of financial instruments; 

 adverse changes in the securities markets;  

 changes in laws or government regulations or policies affecting financial 
institutions, including changes in regulatory fees and capital requirements;  

 changes in monetary and fiscal policy of the U.S. Government, including policies 
of the U.S. Treasury and the Federal Reserve and changes in the level of 
government support of housing finance; 

 our ability to capitalize on growth opportunities;  

 our ability to successfully integrate acquired entities or acquired branches, if any; 

 changes in consumer spending, borrowing and savings habits;  
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 the inability of third-party providers to perform their obligations to us; 

 changes in accounting policies and practices, as may be adopted by the bank 
regulatory agencies, the Financial Accounting Standards Board, the Securities and 
Exchange Commission and the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board;  

 changes in our organization, compensation and benefit plans; and 

 changes in the financial condition or future prospects of issuers of securities that 
we own. 

The foregoing factors should not be construed as exhaustive and should be read in 
conjunction with other cautionary statements that are included in this annual report. If one or more 
events related to these or other risks or uncertainties materialize, or if our underlying assumptions 
prove to be incorrect, actual results may differ materially from what we anticipate. Accordingly, 
you should not place undue reliance on any such forward-looking statements. Any forward-looking 
statement speaks only as of the date on which it is made, and we do not undertake any obligation 
to publicly update or review any forward-looking statement, whether as a result of new 
information, future developments or otherwise. New risks and uncertainties arise from time to 
time, and it is not possible for us to predict those events or how they may affect us. In addition, 
we cannot assess the impact of each factor on our business or the extent to which any factor, or 
combination of factors, may cause actual results to differ materially from those contained in any 
forward-looking statements. 

 
Our Company 

 
Sidney Federal Savings and Loan Association (“Sidney Federal”) is a federal stock 

savings and loan association headquartered in Sidney, Nebraska.  Sidney Federal was organized 
in 1899 and has operated continuously in Sidney, Nebraska since its founding. On July 26, 2018, 
Sidney Federal completed its initial public stock offering and mutual-to-stock conversion.  Sidney 
Federal sold 132,250 shares of common stock, representing the adjusted maximum of the offering 
range, at $10.00 per share, for gross offering proceeds of $1,322,500.  

 
We offer financial services to individuals, families and businesses through our office 

located in Sidney, Nebraska. We are a community-oriented bank offering a variety of financial 
products and services to meet the needs of our customers. We believe that our community 
orientation and personalized service distinguishes us from larger banks that operate in our market 
area.  

 
Our business consists primarily of accepting deposits from the general public and 

investing those deposits, together with funds generated from operations, and to a lesser extent 
borrowings, in one- to four-family owner occupied and non-owner occupied real estate loans, 
commercial real estate loans and consumer loans.  We offer a variety of deposit accounts, 
including checking accounts, money market accounts, savings accounts and certificates of 
deposit. 

 
At December 31, 2018, we had total assets of $17.0 million, net loans of $10.8 million, 

total deposits of $15.2 million and total stockholders’ equity of $1.6 million. 
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In June 2017, we entered into a Memorandum of Understanding (“MOU”) with the Office 
of the Comptroller of the Currency (the “OCC”) aimed at improving Sidney Federal’s earnings, 
strategic plan and succession plan development, internal capital planning process, interest rate 
risk management and concentration risk management. In addition, in July 2017, Sidney Federal 
was notified by the OCC that it established individual minimum capital ratios for Sidney Federal.  
The OCC’s minimum capital ratios are as follows. By December 31, 2017, Sidney Federal was 
required to maintain a Tier 1 leverage capital ratio of 7.5% and a Total risk-based capital to risk-
weighted assets ratio of 12.0%. By June 30, 2018, Sidney Federal was required to maintain a 
Tier 1 leverage capital ratio of 8.0% and a Total risk-based capital to risk-weighted assets ratio of 
12.0%. By December 31, 2018, Sidney Federal was required to maintain a Tier 1 leverage capital 
ratio of 8.5% and a Total risk-based capital to risk-weighted assets ratio of 12.0%.  At December 
31, 2018, Sidney Federal’s Tier 1 leverage capital ratio was 9.25% and its Total risk-based capital 
to risk-weighted assets ratio was 17.34%. 

 
Market Area  

 
We conduct our operations from our office located in Sidney, Nebraska, which is the 

county seat of Cheyenne County, Nebraska. We consider Cheyenne County, Nebraska to be our 
primary market area.  On a more limited basis, we also service Kimball County and Deuel County, 
Nebraska. 

 
The City of Sidney is located in Cheyenne County, Nebraska, which is in western 

Nebraska near the Colorado border along Interstate 80.  According to the City of Sidney, Sidney 
has experienced nearly $250 million in new investment within the last five years.   The local 
economy is supported by business services, agriculture, healthcare, transportation and logistics 
and metal manufacturing.  In 2017, Lukjan Metal Products selected Sidney for an $8.0 million 
capital investment in a manufacturing operation, and Sandhills Publishing opened an additional 
office in Sidney.  Additionally, in 2015, Bell Lumber opened a treatment plant in Sidney and Agri-
Plastics announced that it would invest $4.5 million in a 159,000 square foot production plant in 
Sidney in 2018. Prior to its merger with Bass Pro Shops, Cabela’s corporate headquarters was 
also located in Sidney.  While Bass Pro Shops has not confirmed how many of Cabela’s workers 
will lose their jobs due to the merger, Bass Pro Shops has confirmed that it will keep open all 
Nebraska retail stores and call centers. Bass Pro Shops has also confirmed that it will retain 
approximately 125 of Cabela’s information technology employees and some accounting and 
finance staffers.  

 
To a lesser extent, education, automotive and electronic power generation and 

transmission support the local economy. 
 
Competition 

    
We face intense competition in our market area both in making loans and attracting 

deposits.  We compete with commercial banks, savings institutions, mortgage brokerage firms, 
credit unions, finance companies, mutual funds and insurance companies.  Some of our 
competitors have greater name recognition and market presence, and offer certain services that 
we do not or cannot provide.  

 
Our deposit sources are primarily concentrated in the communities surrounding our 

banking office in Sidney, Nebraska.  As of June 30, 2018 (the latest date for which information is 
publicly available), we ranked 6th in deposit market share out of seven banks and thrift institutions 
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with offices in Cheyenne County, Nebraska with a market share of approximately 5.10%, which 
does not reflect deposits held by credit unions.  

   
Lending Activities 

 
Our primary lending activities are the origination of one- to four-family real estate loans, 

including both owner and non-owner occupied, commercial, and consumer loans.   
 

Loan Portfolio Composition.  The following table sets forth the composition of our loan 
portfolio by type of loan at the dates indicated.  A majority of all of our loans are made to residents 
of Cheyenne County, Nebraska and would be similarly affected by economic conditions there.  
Other than as disclosed herein, there are no other loan concentrations that would exceed 10% of 
our loan portfolio. 

 At December 31, 
 2018 2017 
 Amount Percent Amount Percent 
 (Dollars in Thousands) 
Real estate loans:  

One- to four-family, owner occupied ......  $ 9,483  86.7% $ 11,177  87.0% 
One- to four-family, non-owner occupied  963  8.8  1,139  8.9 
Commercial ............................................   235  2.2  278  2.1 

Consumer loans ..........................................   256  2.3  255  2.0 
Total loans ..........................................   10,937  100.0%  12,849  100.0% 

     
Other items:     

Deferred loan fees, net ............................   (38)   (49)  
Allowance for loan losses .......................   (122)   (122)  

Total loans, net ....................................  $ 10,777  $ 12,678  
 

Loan Approval Procedures and Authority.  We make loans according to written, non-
discriminatory underwriting standards and loan origination procedures established by our board 
of directors.  The loan approval process is intended to assess the borrower’s ability to repay the 
loan and value of the property that will secure the loan.  To assess the borrower’s ability to repay, 
we review the borrower’s employment and credit history and information on the historical and 
projected income and expenses of the borrower.  We require “full documentation” on all of our 
loan applications.   

Pursuant to federal law, the aggregate amount of loans that we are permitted to make to 
any one borrower or a group of related borrowers is $500,000. At December 31, 2018, we did not 
have any borrowers with outstanding balances in excess of this amount. As of December 31, 
2018, the largest dollar amount outstanding to one borrower, or group of related borrowers, was 
$380,100 and was secured by one- to four-family owner occupied real estate. This loan was 
performing according to its contractual terms at December 31, 2018.   

While our loan policy provides for individual lending authorities, our general practice is that 
all loans, regardless of size, are reviewed and approved by our Loan Committee, which consists 
of three members of the board of directors. Our Board of Directors also reviews all loans that are 
originated. At least two members of the Loan Committee and our Board of Directors must review 
and approve all one- to four-family residential real estate loan requests that are in excess of 
$453,100 for loans to be sold in the secondary market and $325,000 for loans to be held in our 
portfolio.  Consumer loans and commercial real estate loans greater than $25,000 must be 
approved by two members of the Loan Committee. Consumer loans and commercial real estate 
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loans up to $25,000 may be approved by the Loan Committee or a Loan Officer and one member 
of the Loan Committee.  Consumer loans and commercial real estate loans up to $10,000 may 
be approved by a Loan Officer or one member of the Loan Committee.   

One- to Four-Family Real Estate Loans – Owner Occupied.  At December 31, 2018, 
$9.5 million, or 86.71% of our total loan portfolio, consisted of one- to four-family owner occupied 
residential real estate loans.  We offer owner occupied fixed-rate residential mortgage loans with 
maturities up to 30 years. Historically, we have also offered owner occupied adjustable-rate 
residential mortgage loans. In recent years in the historically low interest rate environment, nearly 
all of our owner occupied one- to four-family residential real estate loans have been originated 
with fixed-rates of interest.  

Consistent with our strategy to increase our noninterest income while addressing interest 
rate risk, we have historically sold substantially all of our owner occupied fixed-rate, conforming 
one- to four-family real estate loans with maturities of 15 years or greater.  However, in late 2015, 
at the direction of the Federal Housing Finance Agency, Freddie Mac implemented new capital 
and liquidity requirements for its sellers and servicers.  Due to our net losses and capital levels, 
Freddie Mac terminated our mortgage servicing status.  We sell the majority of fixed-rate 
residential mortgage loans with terms of 15 years or more into the secondary market with servicing 
released.  

 
One- to four-family, owner occupied residential mortgage loans are generally underwritten 

according to Freddie Mac guidelines, and we refer to loans that conform to such guidelines as 
“conforming loans.”  We generally originate one- to four-family owner occupied real estate loans 
in amounts up to the maximum conforming loan limits as established by the Federal Housing 
Finance Agency, which is generally $484,000 for single-family homes.  However, loans in excess 
of $484,000 (which are referred to as “jumbo loans”) may be originated for retention in our loan 
portfolio. Our maximum loan amount for these loans is generally $500,000.  We generally 
underwrite jumbo loans in the same manner as conforming loans.   

Generally, we originate loans with loan-to-value ratios of up to 80%.  We also originate 
loans with loan-to-value ratios of up to 95%, with any loans in excess of 80% requiring private 
mortgage insurance.  

Generally, we do not offer “interest only” mortgage loans on one- to four-family residential 
properties (where the borrower pays interest for an initial period, after which the loan converts to 
a fully amortizing loan), however, in certain circumstances, we have offered such loans and we 
evaluate such loans on a case by case basis. We do not offer loans that provide for negative 
amortization of principal, such as “Option ARM” loans, where the borrower can pay less than the 
interest owed on the loan, resulting in an increased principal balance during the life of the loan.  
We do not offer “subprime loans” (loans that generally target borrowers with weakened credit 
histories typically characterized by payment delinquencies, previous charge-offs, judgments, 
bankruptcies, or borrowers with questionable repayment capacity as evidenced by low credit 
scores or high debt-burden ratios) or Alt-A loans (traditionally defined as loans having less than 
full documentation).   

We also offer home equity loans secured by a first or second mortgage on residential 
property. Our home equity loans are made with fixed- or adjustable-rates, and with combined 
loan-to-value ratios up to 80% on an owner occupied principal residence.  
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Generally, we do not make second mortgage loans unless we also hold the first mortgage 
on the borrower’s primary residence. For second mortgage loans for which we do not hold the 
first mortgage, we have greater risk than one- to four-family owner occupied real estate loans 
secured by first mortgages.  We face the risk that the collateral will be insufficient to compensate 
us for loan losses and costs of foreclosure, particularly since holders of the first mortgage would 
be repaid first from the proceeds of any sale of collateral, before such proceeds are applied to 
second mortgage loans. When customers default on their loans, we attempt to foreclose on the 
property and resell the property as soon as possible to minimize foreclosure and carrying costs.  
Particularly with respect to our second mortgage loans, decreases in real estate values could 
adversely affect the value of property used as collateral for our loans. 

One- to Four-Family Real Estate Loans – Non-Owner Occupied.  At December 31, 
2018, $963,000 or 8.80% of our total loan portfolio, consisted of one- to four-family non-owner 
occupied real estate loans.  Our real estate underwriting policies provide that such loans may be 
made in amounts of up to 80% of the appraised value of the property. Our one- to four-family non-
owner occupied real estate loans, are generally fixed-rate balloons loans. Our fixed-rate balloon 
loans for one- to four-family non-owner occupied real estate loans typically have 15-year terms 
and amortize over 30 years. In the future, we will target fixed-rate balloon loans for one- to four-
family non-owner occupied real estate loans with 10 year terms and that amortize over 30 years. 
We occasionally make adjustable-rate loans as well, which have a competitive initial rate that 
typically reset to an applicable margin over the one-year treasury index after one, three or five 
years, with a maximum rate adjustment of 2.0% per adjustment, and a lifetime maximum 
adjustment of 5.0% above the initial rate. Our adjustable-rate one- to four-family non-owner 
occupied property loans generally also have a floor, which currently is 4.00%. Adjustable-rate 
loans may have terms from 15-30 years, and are fully amortizing. 

We generally target one- to four-family non-owner occupied loans with balances up to 
$250,000. At December 31, 2018, our average one- to four-family non-owner occupied loan had 
a balance of $40,000. Virtually all of our one- to four-family non-owner occupied loans are secured 
by properties located in our primary lending area, which we define as Cheyenne County, 
Nebraska. 

In reaching a decision on whether to make one- to four-family non-owner occupied loans, 
we consider the net operating income of the property, the borrower’s expertise and credit history, 
the global cash flow of the borrowers and the value of the underlying property. We generally 
require that the properties securing these real estate loans have debt service coverage ratios (the 
ratio of earnings before debt service to debt service) of at least 1.2x. Generally, one- to four-family 
real estate loans made to business entities require the principals to execute the loan agreements 
in their individual capacity, as well as signing on behalf of such business entity. 

A borrower’s financial information is monitored on an ongoing basis by requiring periodic 
financial statement updates, payment history reviews and periodic face-to-face meetings with the 
borrower. We require borrowers receiving one- to four-family non-owner occupied loans to provide 
annually updated financial statements and federal tax returns, as we do of individual principals on 
our commercial real estate loans. We also require borrowers with rental investment property to 
provide an annual report of income and expenses for the property, including a rent roll and copies 
of leases, as applicable. The largest one- to four-family investment property loan in our portfolio 
at December 31, 2018 was a $178,000 loan. This loan was performing according to its contractual 
terms at December 31, 2018.  

Loans secured by one- to four-family non-owner occupied real estate generally involve a 
greater degree of risk than one- to four-family owner occupied residential mortgage loans. 
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Because payments on loans secured by one- to four-family non-owner occupied properties often 
depend on successful operation or management of the properties, repayment of such loans may 
be affected by adverse conditions in the real estate market or the economy. 

Commercial Real Estate Loans.  To a much lesser extent, we offer commercial real 
estate loans.  At December 31, 2018, $235,000, or 2.2%, of our total loan portfolio, consisted 
mostly of commercial real estate loans.  Properties securing our commercial real estate loans 
primarily include business owner occupied properties, small office buildings and self-storage 
facilities. Substantially all of our commercial real estate loans are secured by properties located 
in our primary market area. At December 31, 2018, our largest commercial real estate loan 
relationship had a principal balance of $59,000 and was secured by a business property and 
personal residential real estate. This loan relationship was performing in accordance with its 
contractual terms at December 31, 2018. 

In the underwriting of commercial real estate, we generally lend up to 70% of the property’s 
appraised value. We base our decision to lend primarily on the economic viability of the property 
and the creditworthiness of the borrower.  In evaluating a proposed commercial real estate loan, 
we emphasize the ratio of the property’s projected net cash flow to the loan’s debt service 
requirement (generally requiring a ratio of 1.2x), computed after deduction for a vacancy factor 
and property expenses we deem appropriate.  Personal guarantees are generally obtained from 
commercial real estate loan borrowers. We require title insurance, fire and extended coverage 
casualty insurance, and, if appropriate, flood insurance, in order to protect our security interest in 
the underlying property.  All of our commercial real estate loans are generated internally by our 
loan officers. 

Commercial real estate loans generally carry higher interest rates and have shorter terms 
than one- to four-family owner occupied real estate loans. Commercial real estate loans, however, 
entail greater credit risks compared to the one- to four-family owner occupied real estate loans 
we originate, as they generally involve larger loan balances concentrated with single borrowers 
or groups of related borrowers.  In addition, the payment of loans secured by income-producing 
properties typically depends on the successful operation of the property, as repayment of the loan 
generally is dependent, in large part, on sufficient income from the property to cover operating 
expenses and debt service.  Changes in economic conditions that are not in the control of the 
borrower or lender could affect the value of the collateral for the loan or the future cash flow of 
the property.  Additionally, any decline in real estate values may be more pronounced for 
commercial real estate properties than residential properties. 

Consumer Loans.  To a much lesser extent, we offer a variety of consumer loans to 
individuals who reside or work in our market area, including new and used automobile loans, 
recreational vehicle loans, and loans secured by certificates of deposits and other collateral. We 
do not purchase indirect automobile loans from dealers. At December 31, 2018, consumer loans 
totaled $256,000, or 2.34% of our loan portfolio.  At that date, $16,000 of our consumer loans 
were unsecured.  

Consumer loans generally have shorter terms to maturity, which reduces our exposure to 
changes in interest rates.  In addition, management believes that offering consumer loan products 
helps to expand and create stronger ties to our existing customer base by increasing the number 
of customer relationships and providing cross-marketing opportunities. 

Consumer loans generally have greater risk compared to longer-term loans secured by 
improved, owner occupied real estate, particularly consumer loans that are secured by rapidly 
depreciable assets, such as automobiles. In these cases, any repossessed collateral for a 
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defaulted loan may not provide an adequate source of repayment of the outstanding loan balance.  
As a result, consumer loan collections are dependent on the borrower’s continuing financial 
stability and thus are more likely to be adversely affected by job loss, divorce, illness or personal 
bankruptcy.   

Loan Originations, Purchases, Sales, Participations and Servicing   

Lending activities are conducted by our loan personnel operating at our office.  All loans 
that we originate are underwritten pursuant to our standard policies and procedures. In addition, 
our one- to four-family residential real estate loans generally incorporate underwriting guidelines 
of Freddie Mac. Our ability to originate loans is dependent upon the relative customer demand for 
such loans and competition from other lenders, which is affected by market interest rates as well 
as anticipated future market interest rates.  Our loan origination and sales activity may be 
adversely affected by a rising interest rate environment which typically results in decreased loan 
demand.  Our originations of our loans are generated by our loan personnel, existing customers, 
referrals from realtors, residential home builders, and walk-in business. 

Consistent with our strategy to increase our noninterest income while addressing interest 
rate risk, we have historically sold substantially all of our owner occupied fixed-rate, conforming 
one- to four-family real estate loans with maturities of 15 years or greater.  However, in late 2015, 
at the direction of the Federal Housing Finance Agency, Freddie Mac implemented new capital 
and liquidity requirements for its sellers and servicers.  Due to our net losses and capital levels, 
Freddie Mac terminated our mortgage servicing status.  We now sell a portion of our fixed-rate 
residential mortgage loans with terms of 15 years or more, without the servicing retained by 
Sidney Federal. 

From time to time, we have entered into loan participations with other banks and 
borrowers. In these circumstances, we will generally follow our customary loan underwriting and 
approval policies.  At December 31, 2018 we did not have any participation loans.   
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The following table sets forth our loan origination, purchase, sale and principal repayment 
activity during the years indicated. 

 Years Ended December 31, 

 2018 2017 

 
(In Thousands) 

Total loans receivable, net, at beginning of year ..................................................  $ 12,678 $ 11,991 
   
Loans originated:   
Real estate loans:   

One- to four-family, owner occupied ................................................    2,518  2,576 
One- to four-family, non-owner occupied .........................................    —  152 
Commercial .......................................................................................   190  223 

Consumer loans .....................................................................................   150  157 
Total loans originated ........................................................................   2,858  3,108 
   

Loans purchased ...................................................................................   14  ― 
   

Loans sold:   
Real estate loans:   
One- to four-family, owner occupied (1)  ..........................................   (2,249)      (511) 
Total loans sold .................................................................................   (2,249)  (511) 
   

Other:   
Principal repayments and other .........................................................   (2,524)  (1,910) 
   

Net loan activity ....................................................................................   (1,901)  687 
Total loans receivable, net, at end of year .........................................  $ 10,777 $ 12,678 

    
(1) Represents loans sold in the secondary market. 

 
Non-Performing and Problem Assets  

Delinquency Procedures. When a borrower fails to make a required monthly loan 
payment, a late notice is generated, generally on the 15th day after the payment due date, stating 
the payment and late charges due.  A follow-up notice is sent every 15 days thereafter.  On a 
case-by-case basis, we will also include follow-up phone calls. Generally, after a loan is 90 days 
past due it is placed on nonaccrual status.  Our Chief Executive Officer and/or our Board of 
Directors determines on a case-by-case basis further actions. Generally, we will contact our 
attorney to initiate foreclosure procedures. If the loan is reinstated, foreclosure proceedings will 
be discontinued and the borrower will be permitted to continue to make payments.  The loan will 
remain on nonaccrual status until a timely repayment history of six months has been established.  
The past due report is reviewed and discussed at the monthly loan committee meeting, which is 
attended by all members of the loan committee. 

When we acquire real estate as a result of foreclosure or by deed in lieu of foreclosure, 
the real estate is classified as foreclosed real estate held for sale until it is sold.  The real estate 
is recorded at estimated fair value at the date of acquisition less estimated costs to sell, and any 
write-down resulting from the acquisition is charged to the allowance for loan losses. Estimated 
fair value is based on a new appraisal or an in-house evaluation which is obtained as soon as 
practicable, typically at the start of the foreclosure proceeding and every six months thereafter 
until the property is sold. Subsequent decreases in the value of the property are charged to 
operations.  After acquisition, all costs incurred in maintaining the property are expensed.  Costs 
relating to the development and improvement of the property, however, are capitalized at 
estimated fair value less estimated costs to sell. 
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Non-Performing Assets.  We generally cease accruing interest on our loans when 
contractual payments of principal or interest have become 90 days past due or management has 
serious doubts about further collectability of principal or interest, even though the loan is currently 
performing.  When a loan is placed on nonaccrual status, unpaid interest credited to income is 
reversed.  Interest received on nonaccrual loans is recorded as income or applied against 
principal. Generally, loans are restored to accrual status when the obligation is brought current, 
has performed in accordance with the contractual terms for a reasonable period of time and the 
ultimate collectability of the total contractual principal and interest is no longer in doubt.  
Restructured loans are restored to accrual status when the obligation is brought current, has 
performed in accordance with the revised contractual terms for a reasonable period of time 
(typically six months) and the ultimate collectability of the total contractual principal and interest 
is reasonably assured. 

The following table sets forth information regarding our non-performing assets at the dates 
indicated. We had no troubled debt restructurings at the dates indicated. 

 At December 31, 
 2018 2017 
 (Dollars in Thousands) 
Non-accrual loans:   
Real estate loans:   

One- to four-family, owner occupied.................. $ 65 $ 68 
One- to four-family, non-owner occupied ..........  —  — 
Commercial ........................................................  —  — 

Consumer loans........................................................  1  — 
Total non-accrual loans ....................................  66  68 

   
Loans delinquent 90 days or more and still 

accruing:   
Real estate loans:   

One- to four-family, owner occupied..................  —  17 
One- to four-family, non-owner occupied ..........  —  — 
Commercial ........................................................  —  — 

Consumer loans........................................................  —  — 
Total loans delinquent 90 days or more and still 

accruing ..........................................................  —  17 
Total non-performing loans  ....................................  —  85 
Foreclosed real estate ...............................................  —  — 
   
Total non-performing assets ..................................... $ 66 $ 85 
   
Ratios:   

Non-performing loans to total loans .....................  0.60%  0.66% 
Non-performing assets to total assets ...................  0.39%  0.52% 

 
For the year ended December 31, 2018, gross interest income that would have been 

recorded had our non-accruing loans been current in accordance with their original terms and 
interest income recognized on such loans was immaterial.  

 
At December 31, 2018, nonaccrual loans consisted of three loans totaling $66,000 with 

no allocated allowances.  No nonaccrual loans were 30 to 89 days past due and three loans 
totaling $66,000 were 90 days or more past due.  

At December 31, 2018, we did not have any loans that were not currently classified as 
nonaccrual, 90 days past due or troubled debt restructurings, but where known information about 
possible credit problems of borrowers caused management to have serious concerns as to the 
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ability of the borrowers to comply with existing loan repayment terms and that could result in 
disclosure as non-accrual, 90 days past due or troubled debt restructurings.    

 
Troubled Debt Restructurings.  Troubled debt restructurings are defined under ASC 

310-40 to include loans for which either a portion of interest or principal has been forgiven, or for 
loans modified at interest rates or on terms materially less favorable than current market rates. At 
December 31, 2018 and 2017, we had no loans that were classified as a troubled debt 
restructuring.  

Delinquent Loans. The following table sets forth our loan delinquencies by type and 
amount, at the dates indicated. 

 
Loans Delinquent For 

Total  30 to 89 Days 90 Days or Over 
 Number Amount Number Amount Number Amount 
 (Dollars in Thousands) 
At December 31, 2018       
Real estate loans:       

One- to four-family, owner occupied   1 $ 56  2 $ 65  3 $ 121 
One- to four-family, non-owner 

occupied ........................................   —  —  —  —  —  — 
Commercial ......................................   —  —  —  —  —  — 

Consumer loans ......................................   1  10  1  1  2  11 
Total loans ......................................   2 $ 66  3 $ 66  5 $ 132 

       
At December 31, 2017       
Real estate loans:       

One- to four-family, owner occupied   3 $ 115  3 $ 85  6 $ 200 
One- to four-family, non-owner 
occupied ............................................   —  —  —  —  —  — 
Commercial ......................................   —  —  —  —  —  — 

Consumer loans ......................................   1  10  —  —  1  10 
Total loans ......................................   4 $ 125  3 $ 85  7 $ 210 

 

Foreclosed Real Estate Held for Sale.  At December 31, 2018, we did not have any 
foreclosed real estate held for sale.  

Classified Assets.  Federal regulations provide that loans and other assets of lesser 
quality should be classified as “substandard”, “doubtful” or “loss” assets. An asset is considered 
“substandard” if it is inadequately protected by the current net worth and paying capacity of the 
obligor or of the collateral pledged, if any.  “Substandard” assets include those characterized by 
the “distinct possibility” that the insured institution will sustain “some loss” if the deficiencies are 
not corrected.  Assets classified as “doubtful” have all of the weaknesses inherent in those 
classified “substandard,” with the added characteristic that the weaknesses present make 
“collection or liquidation in full,” on the basis of currently existing facts, conditions, and values, 
“highly questionable and improbable.”  Assets classified as “loss” are those considered 
“uncollectible” and of such little value that their continuance as assets without the establishment 
of a specific loss reserve is not warranted.  Assets which do not currently expose the insured 
institution to sufficient risk to warrant classification in one of the aforementioned categories but 
possess weaknesses are designated as “special mention” by our management.   

When an insured institution classifies problem assets as either substandard or doubtful, it 
may establish general allowances in an amount deemed prudent by management to cover 
probable accrued losses.  General allowances represent loss allowances which have been 
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established to cover probable accrued losses associated with lending activities, but which, unlike 
specific allowances, have not been allocated to particular problem assets.  When an insured 
institution classifies problem assets as “loss,” it is required to charge-off the amount of such 
assets.  An institution’s determination as to the classification of its assets and the amount of its 
valuation allowances is subject to review by the regulatory authorities, which may require the 
establishment of additional loss allowances. 

In connection with the filing of our periodic regulatory reports and in accordance with our 
classification of assets policy, we regularly review the problem loans in our portfolio to determine 
whether any loans require classification in accordance with applicable regulations.  Loans are 
listed on the “watch list” initially because of emerging financial weaknesses even though the loan 
is currently performing as agreed, or because of delinquency status, or if the loan possesses 
weaknesses although currently performing. Management reviews the status of each impaired loan 
on our watch list with the Loan Committee and then with the full board of directors at the next 
regularly scheduled board meeting. If the asset quality of a loan deteriorates, the classification is 
changed to “special mention,” “substandard,” “doubtful” or “loss” depending on the circumstances 
and the evaluation. Generally, loans 90 days or more past due are placed on nonaccrual status 
and classified “substandard.”  

The following table sets forth our amounts of classified assets and assets designated as 
special mention as of December 31, 2018 and 2017. We did not have any special mention loans 
or foreclosed real estate held for sale at December 31, 2018 and 2017.  

 At December 31, 

 2018 2017 
 (In Thousands) 
Substandard assets  ................................................  $ 66 $ 85 
Doubtful assets ......................................................   —  — 
Loss assets .............................................................   —  — 

Total classified assets .......................................  $ 66 $ 85 
Special mention assets ...........................................  $ — $ — 

Total classified and criticized assets .................  $ 66 $ 85 
   

 
Allowance for Loan Losses  

Analysis and Determination of the Allowance for Loan Losses.  Our allowance for 
loan losses is the amount considered necessary to reflect probable incurred losses in our loan 
portfolio.  We evaluate the need to establish allowances against losses on loans on a quarterly 
basis.  When additional allowances are necessary, a provision for loan losses is charged to 
operations. 

Our methodology for assessing the appropriateness of the allowance for loan losses 
consists of two key elements:  (1) allocated allowances for impaired loans, and (2) a general 
valuation allowance for non-impaired loans.  Although we determine the amount of each element 
of the allowance separately, the entire allowance for loan losses is available for the entire portfolio. 

Allocated Allowances on Impaired Loans.  We establish an allocated allowance when 
loans are determined to be impaired.  Loss is measured by determining the present value of 
expected future cash flows or, for collateral-dependent loans, the fair value of the collateral 
adjusted for market conditions and selling expenses.  Factors in identifying a specific problem 
loan include: (1) the strength of the customer’s personal or business cash flows; (2) the availability 
of other sources of repayment; (3) the amount due or past due; (4) the type and value of collateral; 
(5) the strength of our collateral position; (6) the estimated cost to sell the collateral; and (7) the 
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borrower’s effort to cure the delinquency.  In addition, for loans secured by real estate, we 
consider the extent of any past due and unpaid property taxes applicable to the property serving 
as collateral for the mortgage. 

General Valuation Allowance on Non-impaired Loans.  We establish a general 
allowance for non-impaired loans to recognize the probable losses associated with lending 
activities.  This general valuation allowance is determined by segregating the loans by loan 
category and assigning allowance percentages based on our historical loss experience for the 
last three years, adjusted for qualitative factors that could impact the allowance for loan losses.  
These qualitative factors may include changes in lending policies and procedures, existing 
general economic and business conditions affecting our primary market area, volume and severity 
of non-performing loans, collateral value, nature and volume of the loan portfolio and existence 
and effect of any concentrations of credit and the level of such concentrations, recent loss 
experience in particular segments of the portfolio, duration of the current business cycle and bank 
regulatory examination results.  The applied loss factors are re-evaluated quarterly to ensure their 
relevance in the current real estate environment.  

. 

 

 

At or For the Years Ended 
December 31, 

2018 2017 
 (Dollars in thousands) 
   

Balance at beginning of year.............................  $ 122 $ 118 
   
Charge-offs .......................................................   —  — 
   
Recoveries ........................................................   —  — 
   

Net recoveries (charge-offs) .............................   —  — 
Provision for loan losses ...................................   —  4 
   
Balance at end of year .......................................  $ 122 $ 122 
   
Ratios:   
Net charge-offs to average loans outstanding ...   —%  —% 
Allowance for loan losses to non-performing 

loans at end of year .......................................   184.85%  143.53% 
Allowance for loan losses to total loans at end 

of year ...........................................................   1.12%  0.95% 
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Allocation of Allowance for Loan Losses.  The following table sets forth the allowance 
for loan losses allocated by loan category and the percent of loans in each category to total loans 
at the dates indicated.  The allowance for loan losses allocated to each category is not necessarily 
indicative of future losses in any particular category and does not restrict the use of the allowance 
to absorb losses in other categories.  

 At December 31, 
 2018 2017 
 

Amount 

Percent of 
Allowance to 

Total 
Allowance 

Percent of 
Loans in 

Category to 
Total Loans Amount 

Percent of 
Allowance to 

Total 
Allowance 

Percent of 
Loans in 

Category to 
Total Loans 

 (Dollars in Thousands) 
       

Real estate loans:       
One- to four-family, owner 

occupied ...............................  $ 104  85.2%  86.7% $ 104  85.2%  87.0% 
One- to four-family, non-owner 

occupied ....................................   12  9.8  8.8  12  9.8  8.9 
Commercial ..................................   3  2.5  2.2  3  2.5  2.1 

    Consumer loans ............................   3  2.5  2.3  3  2.5  2.0 
Total allowance for loan losses ...........  $ 122  100.0%  100.0% $ 122  100.0%  100.0% 

 
 Although we believe that we use the best information available to establish the allowance 
for loan losses, future adjustments to the allowance for loan losses may be necessary and results 
of operations could be adversely affected if circumstances differ substantially from the 
assumptions used in making the determinations. Because future events affecting borrowers and 
collateral cannot be predicted with certainty, the existing allowance for loan losses may not be 
adequate and management may determine that increases in the allowance are necessary if the 
quality of any portion of our loan portfolio deteriorates as a result. Furthermore, the OCC 
periodically reviews our allowance for loan losses and as a result of such reviews, we may have 
to adjust our allowance for loan losses or recognize further loan charge-offs. However, the OCC 
is not directly involved in the process of establishing the allowance for loan losses, as the process 
is our responsibility and any adjustment of the allowance is the responsibility of management. 
Material additions to the allowance would materially decrease our results of operations. 

Investments  
 

General.  Federally chartered savings associations have the authority to invest in various 
types of liquid assets, including United States government and government agency obligations, 
securities of various federal agencies and government-sponsored entities (including securities 
collateralized by mortgages), certificates of deposits of insured banks and savings institutions, 
municipal and corporate debt securities, and any other securities authorized for investment by a 
federal savings association. 
 

U.S. GAAP requires that securities be categorized as “held to maturity,” “trading securities” 
or “available for sale,” based on management’s intent as to the ultimate disposition of each 
security.  U.S. GAAP allows debt securities to be classified as “held to maturity” and reported in 
financial statements at amortized cost only if the reporting entity has the positive intent and ability 
to hold these securities to maturity.  Securities that might be sold in response to changes in market 
interest rates, changes in the security’s prepayment risk, increases in loan demand, or other 
similar factors cannot be classified as “held to maturity.”  

 



18 

Our investment objectives are to: (i) ensure adequate liquidity for loan demand, deposit 
fluctuations, and other changes in balance sheet mix; (ii) manage interest rate risk; (iii) maximize 
our overall return; (iv) ensure collateral is available for pledging; and (v) manage asset-quality 
diversification of our assets. Our board of directors has the overall responsibility for the investment 
portfolio, including approval of our investment policy. Our board of directors also has the 
responsibility for the approval of investment strategies and for monitoring our investment 
performance.  Our President and Chief Executive Officer is the institution's investment manager 
and is responsible for proposing investment strategies and for executing approved portfolio 
strategies as set forth by the board of directors.  Our board of directors reviews the status of our 
investment portfolio on a quarterly basis, or more frequently if warranted. 

 
The following table sets forth the amortized cost and fair value of our securities portfolio 

(excluding FHLB of Topeka and Midwest Independent Bank common stock) at the dates 
indicated. At the dates indicated, all of our investment securities were held as available for sale.  

 At December 31, 

 2018 2017 

 
Amortized 

Cost 
Fair 

Value 
Amortized 

Cost 
Fair  

Value 
 (In thousands) 

     
Mortgage-backed securities .....................  $ 4,740 $ 4,735 $ 1,808 $ 1,800 
Collateralized mortgage obligations ........   18  17  32  31 
SBA pools ................................................   72  72  102  104 
Municipal securities .................................   248  251  247  251 

Total securities available for sale ........  $ 5,078 $ 5,075 $ 2,189 $ 2,186 
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Portfolio Maturities and Yields.  The composition and maturities of the investment securities portfolio at December 31, 2018 
is summarized in the following table.  Maturities and yields are based on the final contractual payment dates, and do not reflect the 
impact of prepayments or early redemptions that may occur.  No tax-equivalent yield adjustments were made, as the effect thereof 
was not material. All of our securities at this date were held as available for sale.   

One Year or Less 
More than One Year 
through Five Years 

More than Five Years 
through Ten Years More than Ten Years Total Securities 

Amortized 
Cost 

Weighted 
Average 

Yield 
Amortized 

Cost 

Weighted 
Average 

Yield 
Amortized 

Cost 

Weighted 
Average 

Yield 
Amortized 

Cost 

Weighted 
Average 

Yield 
Amortized 

Cost 
Fair 

Value 

Weighted 
Average 

Yield 
(Dollars in Thousands) 

Mortgage-backed securities .................  $ —  —% $ 848 2.22% $ 267  1.60% $ 3,625 2.93% $ 4,740 $ 4,735 2.73% 

Collateralized mortgage obligations ....  — —% —  —% —  —% 18 2.19% 18 17 2.79% 
SBA pools ............................................  —  —% —  —% —  —% 72 3.34% 72 72 3.24% 
Municipal securities .............................  — —% 248 4.77% — —% — —% 248 251 4.80% 

Total securities available for sale ...  $ — —% $ 1,096 2.79% $ 267 1.60% $ 3,715 2.94% $ 5,078 $ 5,075 2.83% 
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Sources of Funds 

General.  Deposits traditionally have been our primary source of funds for our lending 
activities and, as applicable, other investments.  We also occasionally borrow from the FHLB of 
Topeka to supplement cash flow needs.  Our additional sources of funds are scheduled loan 
repayments, loan prepayments, retained earnings and the proceeds of loan sales.   

Deposits.  We accept deposits primarily from individuals who reside in and businesses 
located in Cheyenne County, Nebraska.  We rely on our competitive pricing and products, 
convenient location and quality customer service to attract and retain deposits.  We offer a variety 
of deposit accounts with a range of interest rates and terms.  Our deposit accounts consist of 
checking accounts, money market accounts, savings accounts and certificates of deposit.  

Interest rates paid, maturity terms, service fees and withdrawal penalties are established 
on a periodic basis.  Deposit rates and terms are based primarily on current operating strategies 
and market interest rates, liquidity requirements and our deposit growth goals.  At December 31, 
2018 and 2017, we had no brokered deposits.   

The following table sets forth the distribution of average total deposits by account type, for 
the years indicated. 

For The Year Ended December 31, 
2018 2017 

Average 
Balance Percent 

Weighted 
Average 

Rate 
Average 
Balance Percent 

Weighted 
Average 

Rate 
(Dollars in Thousands) 

Deposit type: 
Noninterest-bearing checking 
   accounts ...................................  $ 963  6.32%   —% $ 899 5.8% —% 
Checking and MMDA accounts 2,557 16.79%          .10% 2,867 18.6% 0.10% 
Savings accounts ........................  4,930 32.36%          .14% 4,496 29.2% 0.09% 
Certificates of deposit ................  6,783 44.53%  1.08% 7,145 46.4% 0.74% 

Total deposits ........................  $ 15,233 100.0%  .55% $ 15,407 100.0% 0.39% 

As of December 31, 2018, the aggregate amount of outstanding certificates of deposit in 
amounts greater than or equal to $100,000 was $2.6 million.  The following table sets forth the 
maturity of those certificates as of December 31, 2018. 

At
December 31, 2018 

(In Thousands) 

Three months or less .............................  $ 1,078 
Over three months through six months .........  — 
Over six months through one year ................  929 
Over one year to three years ..........................  623 
Over three years ............................................. — 

Total ...............................................................  $ 2,630 

Borrowings.  We may obtain advances from the FHLB of Topeka utilizing the security of 
the common stock we own in the FHLB of Topeka and qualifying residential mortgage loans as 
collateral, provided certain standards related to creditworthiness are met. These advances are 
made pursuant to several credit programs, each of which has its own interest rate and range of 
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maturities. FHLB of Topeka advances are generally available to meet seasonal and other 
withdrawals of deposit accounts and to permit increased lending. The following table sets forth 
information concerning balances and interest rates on our borrowings at and for the periods 
shown: 

At or For the Years Ended 
December 31, 

2018 2017 
(Dollars in Thousands) 

Balance at end of year ..............................  $ — $ — 

Average balance during year ...........................  $ — $ 393 

Maximum outstanding at any month end ........  $ — $ 1,000 
Weighted average interest rate at end of year ..    —%  —%   

Average interest rate during year .....................    —%   4.83% 

Personnel 

As of December 31, 2018, we had six full-time equivalent employees.  Our employees are 
not represented by any collective bargaining group.  Management believes that we have a good 
working relationship with our employees. 

Subsidiary Activity 

Sidney Federal has no subsidiaries. 

Federal Taxation 

General.  Sidney Federal is subject to federal income taxation in the same general manner 
as other corporations, with some exceptions discussed below.  The following discussion of federal 
taxation is intended only to summarize material federal income tax matters and is not a 
comprehensive description of the tax rules applicable to Sidney Federal. 

Federal Tax Reform. On December 22, 2017, the President signed into law H.R. 1, 
commonly known as the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017 (the “Act”).  The Act includes a number 
of changes in existing tax law impacting businesses including, among other things, a reduction of 
the federal corporate income tax rate from 34% to 21% effective January 1, 2018.  As a result, 
we were required to re-measure, through income tax expense, our deferred tax assets and 
liabilities using the enacted rate at which we expect them to be recovered or settled. The re-
measurement of our net deferred tax asset did not result in any additional income tax expense as 
our deferred tax asset is fully reserved. 

Method of Accounting.  For federal income tax purposes, Sidney Federal reports its 
income and expenses on the cash basis method of accounting and use a calendar year ending 
December 31st for filing its federal income tax returns.   

Net Operating Loss Carryovers.  Under pre-Act law, generally, a financial institution may 
carry back net operating losses to the preceding two taxable years and forward to the succeeding 
20 taxable years.  Under the Act, for net operating losses arising in tax years ending after 
December 31, 2017, the two-year carryback limit is repealed for financial institutions and the net 
operating loss may be carried forward indefinitely.  For losses arising in tax years beginning after 
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December 31, 2017, the net operating loss deduction is limited to 80% of taxable income.  At 
December 31, 2018, Sidney Federal had $1.9 million in net operating loss carryforward for federal 
income tax purposes.  

Audit of Tax Returns.  Sidney Federal’s federal income tax returns have not been audited 
in the most recent five-year period.  

State Taxation 

Nebraska State Taxation.  Sidney Federal is subject to Nebraska taxation. Under 
Nebraska law, Sidney Federal pays a franchise tax in lieu of a corporate income tax. The franchise 
tax is the lesser of two amounts computed based on our average deposits and net financial 
income, respectively. Presently, the tax is $0.47 per $1,000 of average deposits but not to exceed 
an amount determined by applying 3.81% to our net financial income. Net financial income is our 
income as reported to the OCC after ordinary and necessary expenses but before income taxes. 

Other applicable state taxes include generally applicable sales and use taxes plus real 
and personal property taxes. Sidney Federal’s state income tax returns have not been audited in 
the most recent five-year period. 

For additional information regarding taxation, see Note 8 of the Notes to Sidney Federal’s 
Financial Statements beginning on page F-1 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. 

Supervision and Regulation 

As a federal savings association, Sidney Federal is subject to examination, supervision 
and regulation, primarily by the OCC, and, secondarily, by the Federal Deposit Insurance 
Corporation (“FDIC”) as deposits insurer.  Prior to July 21, 2011, the Office of Thrift Supervision 
was Sidney Federal’s primary federal regulator.  However, the Dodd-Frank Act, which is 
discussed further below, eliminated the Office of Thrift Supervision and transferred the Office of 
Thrift Supervision’s functions relating to federal savings associations, including rulemaking 
authority, to the OCC, effective July 21, 2011.  The federal system of regulation and supervision 
establishes a comprehensive framework of activities in which Sidney Federal may engage and is 
intended primarily for the protection of depositors and the FDIC’s Deposit Insurance Fund.   

In addition, Sidney Federal is a member of and owns stock in the FHLB of Topeka, which 
is one of the 11 regional banks in the Federal Home Loan Bank System. Sidney Federal’s 
relationship with its depositors and borrowers also is regulated to a great extent by federal law 
and, to a lesser extent, state law, including in matters concerning the ownership of deposit 
accounts and the form and content of Sidney Federal’s loan documents. 

Sidney Federal will also be subject to the federal securities laws and regulations as 
administered by the OCC.  

Set forth below are certain material regulatory requirements that are applicable to Sidney 
Federal.  This description of statutes and regulations is not intended to be a complete description 
of such statutes and regulations and their effects on Sidney Federal.  Any change in these laws 
or regulations, whether by Congress or the applicable regulatory agencies, could have a material 
adverse impact on Sidney Federal and its operations.   
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Memorandum of Understanding with the OCC 

In June 2017, Sidney Federal entered into an MOU with the OCC aimed at improving 
Sidney Federal’s earnings, strategic plan and succession plan development, internal capital 
planning process, interest rate risk management and concentration risk management. 
Specifically, the MOU requires Sidney Federal to take the following actions: 

 prepare a three-year strategic plan that establishes objectives for Sidney Federal’s
overall risk profile, earnings performance, growth, balance sheet activities, liability
structure, capital and liquidity adequacy and product line development;

 prepare a contingency funding plan to monitor Sidney Federal’s progress to ensure
Sidney Federal maintains adequate liquidity in any environment and to detail
actions to be taken to either (i) merge with another insured depository institution or
(ii) perform another type of transaction that would resolve the supervisory
concerns;

 develop an interest rate risk program to address Sidney Federal’s strategic
direction and tolerance for interest rate risk; and

 develop a concentration risk management program designed to identify, measure,
monitor, and control concentrations of credit.

In addition, in July 2017, Sidney Federal was notified by the OCC that it established 
minimum capital ratios for Sidney Federal. The OCC’s minimum capital ratios are as follows.  By 
December 31, 2017, Sidney Federal was required to maintain a Tier 1 leverage capital ratio of 
7.5% and a Total risk-based capital to risk-weighted assets ratio of 12.0%. By June 30, 2018, 
Sidney Federal is required to maintain a Tier 1 leverage capital ratio of 8.0% and a Total risk-
based capital to risk-weighted assets ratio of 12.0%. By December 31, 2018, Sidney Federal is 
required to maintain a Tier 1 leverage capital ratio of 8.5% and a Total risk-based capital to risk-
weighted assets ratio of 12.0%.  At December 31, 2018, Sidney Federal’s Tier 1 leverage capital 
ratio was 9.2% and its Total risk-based capital to risk-weighted assets ratio was 17.3%. 

Failure to remain in compliance with the individual minimum capital requirements may 
result in our needing to reduce our total assets in order to meet our individual minimum capital 
requirements, which would likely reduce our earnings. Moreover, in the event we are in material 
non-compliance with the terms of the MOU and the individual minimum capital requirements, the 
OCC has the authority to subject us to more restrictive enforcement actions, such as a cease and 
desist order, civil money penalties, and the removal of directors and officers from their positions 
with Sidney Federal.   

Dodd-Frank Act 

As noted above, the Dodd-Frank Act made significant changes to the regulatory structure 
for depository institutions.  However, the Dodd-Frank Act’s changes go well beyond that and affect 
the lending, investments and other operations of all depository institutions.  The Dodd-Frank Act 
broadened the base for FDIC insurance assessments.  Assessments are now based on the 
average consolidated total assets less tangible equity capital of a financial institution.  The 
legislation also permanently increased the maximum amount of deposit insurance for banks, 
savings institutions and credit unions to $250,000 per depositor.  The Dodd-Frank Act increased 
stockholder influence over boards of directors by requiring publicly traded companies to give 
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stockholders a non-binding vote on executive compensation and so-called “golden parachute” 
payments.   

The Dodd-Frank Act created the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau with broad 
powers to supervise and enforce consumer protection laws.  The Consumer Financial Protection 
Bureau has broad rule-making authority for a wide range of consumer protection laws that apply 
to all banks and savings institutions such as Sidney Federal, including the authority to prohibit 
“unfair, deceptive or abusive” acts and practices.  The new legislation also weakened the federal 
preemption available for national banks and federal savings associations, and gave state 
attorneys general the ability to enforce applicable federal consumer protection laws. 

Federal Banking Regulation  

Business Activities.  The activities of federal savings associations, such as Sidney 
Federal, are governed by federal laws and regulations. Those laws and regulations delineate the 
nature and extent of the business activities in which federal savings associations may engage. In 
particular, certain lending authority for federal savings associations, e.g., commercial, non-
residential real property loans and consumer loans, is limited to a specified percentage of the 
institution’s capital or assets   

Examinations and Assessments.   Sidney Federal is primarily supervised by the OCC.  
Sidney Federal is required to file reports with and is subject to periodic examination by the OCC.  
Sidney Federal is required to pay assessments to the OCC to fund the agency’s operations. 

Capital Requirements.  Federal regulations require FDIC-insured depository institutions, 
including federal savings associations, to meet several minimum capital standards:  a common 
equity Tier 1 capital to risk-based assets ratio, a Tier 1 capital to risk-based assets ratio, a total 
capital to risk-based assets and a Tier 1 capital to total assets leverage ratio.  The existing capital 
requirements were effective January 1, 2015 and are the result of a final rule implementing 
regulatory amendments based on recommendations of the Basel Committee on Banking 
Supervision and certain requirements of the Dodd-Frank Act. 

The capital standards require the maintenance of common equity Tier 1 capital, Tier 1 
capital and Total capital to risk-weighted assets of at least 4.5%, 6% and 8%, respectively.  The 
regulations also establish a minimum required leverage ratio of at least 4% Tier 1 capital.  
Common equity Tier 1 capital is generally defined as common stockholders’ equity and retained 
earnings.  Tier 1 capital is generally defined as common equity Tier 1 and Additional Tier 1 capital.  
Additional Tier 1 capital generally includes certain noncumulative perpetual preferred stock and 
related surplus and minority interests in equity accounts of consolidated subsidiaries.  Total capital 
includes Tier 1 capital (common equity Tier 1 capital plus Additional Tier 1 capital) and Tier 2 
capital.  Tier 2 capital is comprised of capital instruments and related surplus meeting specified 
requirements, and may include cumulative preferred stock and long-term perpetual preferred 
stock, mandatory convertible securities, intermediate preferred stock and subordinated debt.  Also 
included in Tier 2 capital is the allowance for loan and lease losses limited to a maximum of 1.25% 
of risk-weighted assets and, for institutions that have exercised an opt-out election regarding the 
treatment of Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (“AOCI”) such as Sidney Federal, up to 
45% of net unrealized gains on available for sale equity securities with readily determinable fair 
market values.  Institutions that have not exercised the AOCI opt-out have AOCI incorporated into 
common equity Tier 1 capital (including unrealized gains and losses on available for sale 
securities).  Calculation of all types of regulatory capital is subject to deductions and adjustments 
specified in the regulations. 
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In determining the amount of risk-weighted assets for purposes of calculating risk-based 
capital ratios, an institution’s assets, including certain off-balance sheet assets (e.g., recourse 
obligations, direct credit substitutes, residual interests), are multiplied by a risk weight factor 
assigned by the regulations based on the risk deemed inherent in the type of asset.  Higher levels 
of capital are required for asset categories believed to present greater risk.  For example, a risk 
weight of 0% is assigned to cash and U.S. government securities, a risk weight of 50% is generally 
assigned to prudently underwritten first lien one- to four-family residential mortgages, a risk weight 
of 100% is assigned to commercial and consumer loans, a risk weight of 150% is assigned to 
certain past due loans and a risk weight of between 0% to 600% is assigned to permissible equity 
interests, depending on certain specified factors. 

In addition to establishing the minimum regulatory capital requirements, the regulations 
limit capital distributions and certain discretionary bonus payments to management if the 
institution does not hold a “capital conservation buffer” consisting of 2.5% of common equity Tier 
1 capital to risk-weighted assets above the amount necessary to meet its minimum risk-based 
capital requirements.  The capital conservation buffer requirement is being phased in beginning 
January 1, 2016 at 0.625% of risk-weighted assets and increasing each year until fully 
implemented at 2.5% on January 1, 2019.   

Regulatory relief legislation enacted in May 2018 requires the federal banking agencies, 
including the OCC, to establish for institutions with assets of less than $10 billion of assets a 
“community bank leverage ratio” (the ratio of a bank’s tangible equity capital to average total 
consolidated assets) of between 8 to 10%. A “qualifying community bank” with capital exceeding 
the specified requirement will be considered compliant with all applicable regulatory capital and 
leverage requirements, including the requirement to be “well capitalized.” The establishment of 
the community bank leverage ratio is subject to notice and comment rulemaking by the federal 
regulators. A financial institution can elect to be subject to this new simplified capital requirement. 

At December 31, 2018, Sidney Federal exceeded all regulatory capital requirements 
necessary to be considered a “well-capitalized” bank, but was classified as “adequately 
capitalized” because it was subject to an MOU and increased capital requirements with the OCC.   

Loans-to-One Borrower.  Generally, a federal savings association may not make a loan 
or extend credit to a single or related group of borrowers in excess of 15% of unimpaired capital 
and surplus.  An additional amount may be lent, equal to 10% of unimpaired capital and surplus, 
if secured by “readily marketable collateral,” which generally includes certain financial instruments 
(but not real estate). However, if a savings association's aggregate lending limitation calculated 
under the test as described above is less than $500,000, which Sidney Federal’s limitation is, 
then such savings association may have total loans and extensions of credit, for any purpose, to 
one borrower outstanding at one time not to exceed $500,000. As of December 31, 2018, Sidney 
Federal was in compliance with the $500,000 loans-to-one borrower limitation.  

Standards for Safety and Soundness.  Federal law requires each federal banking 
agency to prescribe certain standards for all insured depository institutions.  These standards 
relate to, among other things, internal controls, information systems and audit systems, loan 
documentation, credit underwriting, interest rate risk exposure, asset growth, compensation and 
other operational and managerial standards as the agency deems appropriate.  Interagency 
guidelines set forth the safety and soundness standards that the federal banking agencies use to 
identify and address problems at insured depository institutions before capital becomes impaired.  
If the appropriate federal banking agency determines that an institution fails to meet any standard 
prescribed by the guidelines, the agency may require the institution to submit to the agency an 
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acceptable plan to achieve compliance with the standard.  Failure to implement such a plan can 
result in further enforcement action, including the issuance of a cease and desist order or the 
imposition of civil money penalties. 

Prompt Corrective Action.  Under the federal Prompt Corrective Action statute, the OCC 
is required to take supervisory actions against undercapitalized institutions under its jurisdiction, 
the severity of which depends upon the institution’s level of capital.  An institution that has a total 
risk-based capital ratio of less than 8.0%, a Tier 1 risk-based capital ratio of less than 6.0%, a 
common equity Tier 1 ratio of less than 4.5% or a leverage ratio of less than 4% is considered to 
be “undercapitalized.”  A savings institution that has total risk-based capital of less than 6.0%, a 
Tier 1 risk-based capital ratio of less than 4.0%, a common equity Tier 1 ratio of less than 3.0% 
or a leverage ratio that is less than 3.0% is considered to be “significantly undercapitalized.”  A 
savings institution that has a tangible capital to assets ratio equal to or less than 2.0% is deemed 
to be “critically undercapitalized.”   

Generally, the OCC is required to appoint a receiver or conservator for a federal savings 
association that becomes “critically undercapitalized” within specific time frames.  The regulations 
also provide that a capital restoration plan must be filed with the OCC within 45 days of the date 
that a federal savings association is deemed to have received notice that it is “undercapitalized,” 
“significantly undercapitalized” or “critically undercapitalized.”  Any federal savings association 
that is required to submit a capital restoration plan must guarantee performance under the plan 
in an amount of up to the lesser of 5.0% of the savings association’s assets at the time it was 
deemed to be undercapitalized by the OCC or the amount necessary to restore the savings 
association to adequately capitalized status.  This guarantee remains in place until the OCC 
notifies the savings association that it has maintained adequately capitalized status for each of 
four consecutive calendar quarters.  Institutions that are undercapitalized become subject to 
certain mandatory measures such as restrictions on capital distributions and asset growth.  The 
OCC may also take any one of a number of discretionary supervisory actions against 
undercapitalized federal savings associations, including the issuance of a capital directive and 
the replacement of senior executive officers and directors.   

At December 31, 2018, Sidney Federal exceeded all regulatory capital requirements 
necessary to be considered a “well-capitalized” bank, but was classified as “adequately 
capitalized” because it was subject to an MOU and increased capital requirements with the OCC.  

Qualified Thrift Lender Test.  As a federal savings association, Sidney Federal must 
satisfy the qualified thrift lender, or “QTL,” test.  Under the QTL test, Sidney Federal must maintain 
at least 65% of its “portfolio assets” in “qualified thrift investments” (primarily residential mortgages 
and related investments, including mortgage-backed securities) in at least nine months of every 
12-month period.  “Portfolio assets” generally means total assets of a savings association, less 
the sum of specified liquid assets up to 20% of total assets, goodwill and other intangible assets, 
and the value of property used in the conduct of the savings association’s business. 

Alternatively, Sidney Federal may satisfy the QTL test by qualifying as a “domestic building 
and loan association” as defined in the Internal Revenue Code. 

A savings association that fails the qualified thrift lender test is subject to certain operating 
restrictions and the Dodd-Frank Act also specifies that failing the qualified thrift lender test is a 
violation of law that could result in an enforcement action and dividend limitations. At December 
31, 2018, Sidney Federal satisfied the QTL test. 
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Capital Distributions.  Federal regulations govern capital distributions by a federal 
savings association, which include cash dividends, stock repurchases and other transactions 
charged to the savings association’s capital account.  A federal savings association must file an 
application with the OCC for approval of a capital distribution if: 

 the total capital distributions for the applicable calendar year exceed the sum of 
the savings association’s net income for that year to date plus the savings 
association’s retained net income for the preceding two years;  

 the savings association would not be at least adequately capitalized following the 
distribution;  

 the distribution would violate any applicable statute, regulation, agreement or 
regulatory condition; or  

 the savings association is not eligible for expedited treatment of its filings. 

In addition, the Federal Deposit Insurance Act provides that an insured depository 
institution shall not make any capital distribution if, after making such distribution, the institution 
would fail to meet any applicable regulatory capital requirement.   

Additionally, pursuant to OCC regulations, during the three-year period following the 
conversion, we will not make any capital distribution to stockholders that would be treated by 
recipients as a tax-free return of capital for federal income tax purposes. 

Community Reinvestment Act and Fair Lending Laws.  All federal savings 
associations have a responsibility under the Community Reinvestment Act and related regulations 
to help meet the credit needs of their communities, including low- and moderate-income 
borrowers.  In connection with its examination of a federal savings association, the OCC is 
required to assess the federal savings association’s record of compliance with the Community 
Reinvestment Act.  A savings association’s failure to comply with the provisions of the Community 
Reinvestment Act could, at a minimum, result in denial of certain corporate applications such as 
branches or mergers, or in restrictions on its activities.  In addition, the Equal Credit Opportunity 
Act and the Fair Housing Act prohibit lenders from discriminating in their lending practices on the 
basis of characteristics specified in those statutes.  The failure to comply with the Equal Credit 
Opportunity Act and the Fair Housing Act could result in enforcement actions by the OCC, as well 
as other federal regulatory agencies and the Department of Justice.   

The Community Reinvestment Act requires all institutions insured by the FDIC to publicly 
disclose their rating.  Sidney Federal received a “satisfactory” Community Reinvestment Act rating 
in its most recent federal examination.  

Transactions with Related Parties.  A federal savings association’s authority to engage 
in transactions with its affiliates is limited by Sections 23A and 23B of the Federal Reserve Act 
and federal regulation.  An affiliate is generally a company that controls, or is under common 
control with an insured depository institution such as Sidney Federal.  In general, transactions 
between an insured depository institution and its affiliates are subject to certain quantitative limits 
and collateral requirements.  In addition, federal regulations prohibit a savings association from 
lending to any of its affiliates that are engaged in activities that are not permissible for bank holding 
companies and from purchasing the securities of any affiliate, other than a subsidiary.  Finally, 
transactions with affiliates must be consistent with safe and sound banking practices, not involve 
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the purchase of low-quality assets and be on terms that are as favorable to the institution as 
comparable transactions with non-affiliates.   

Sidney Federal’s authority to extend credit to its directors, executive officers and 10% 
stockholders, as well as to entities controlled by such persons, is currently governed by the 
requirements of Sections 22(g) and 22(h) of the Federal Reserve Act and Regulation O of the 
Federal Reserve Board.  Among other things, these provisions generally require that extensions 
of credit to insiders: 

 be made on terms that are substantially the same as, and follow credit underwriting 
procedures that are not less stringent than, those prevailing for comparable 
transactions with unaffiliated persons and that do not involve more than the normal 
risk of repayment or present other unfavorable features; and 

 not exceed certain limitations on the amount of credit extended to such persons, 
individually and in the aggregate, which limits are based, in part, on the amount of 
Sidney Federal’s capital. 

In addition, extensions of credit in excess of certain limits must be approved by Sidney 
Federal’s board of directors.  Extensions of credit to executive officers are subject to additional 
limits based on the type of extension involved. 

Enforcement.  The OCC has primary enforcement responsibility over federal savings 
associations and has authority to bring enforcement action against all “institution-affiliated 
parties,” including directors, officers, stockholders, attorneys, appraisers and accountants who 
knowingly or recklessly participate in wrongful action likely to have an adverse effect on a federal 
savings association.  Formal enforcement action by the OCC may range from the issuance of a 
capital directive or cease and desist order to removal of officers and/or directors of the institution 
to the appointment of a receiver or conservator.  Civil penalties cover a wide range of violations 
and actions, and range up to $25,000 per day, unless a finding of reckless disregard is made, in 
which case penalties may be as high as $1.0 million per day.  The FDIC also has the authority to 
terminate deposit insurance or recommend to the OCC that enforcement action be taken with 
respect to a particular savings association.  If such action is not taken, the FDIC has authority to 
take the action under specified circumstances. 

Insurance of Deposit Accounts.  The Deposit Insurance Fund of the FDIC insures 
deposits at FDIC-insured financial institutions such as Sidney Federal.  Deposit accounts in 
Sidney Federal are insured by the FDIC generally up to a maximum of $250,000 per separately 
insured depositor and up to a maximum of $250,000 for self-directed retirement accounts.   

The FDIC charges insured depository institutions premiums to maintain the Deposit 
Insurance Fund.  Under the FDIC’s risk-based assessment system, insured institutions were 
assigned a risk category based on supervisory evaluations, regulatory capital levels and certain 
other factors.  An institution’s rate depended upon the category to which it is assigned, and certain 
adjustments specified by FDIC regulations.  Institutions deemed less risky pay lower FDIC 
assessments.     

Effective July 1, 2016, the FDIC adopted changes that eliminated the risk categories.  
Assessments for most institutions are now based on financial measures and supervisory ratings 
derived from statistical modeling estimating the probability of failure within three years.  In 
conjunction with the Deposit Insurance Fund reserve ratio achieving 1.15%, the assessment 
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range (inclusive of possible adjustments) was reduced for most banks and savings associations 
to 1.5 basis points to 30 basis points. 

In addition to the FDIC assessments, the Financing Corporation (“FICO”) is authorized to 
impose and collect, with the approval of the FDIC, assessments for anticipated payments, 
issuance costs and custodial fees on bonds issued by the FICO in the 1980s to recapitalize the 
former Federal Savings and Loan Insurance Corporation. The bonds issued by the FICO are due 
to mature in 2017 through 2019.  For the quarter ended December 31, 2018, the annualized FICO 
assessment was equal to 0.32 of a basis point of total assets less tangible capital.  

The FDIC has authority to increase insurance assessments.  Any significant increases 
would have an adverse effect on the operating expenses and results of operations of Sidney 
Federal.  Sidney Federal cannot predict what assessment rates will be in the future. 

Insurance of deposits may be terminated by the FDIC upon a finding that an institution 
has engaged in unsafe or unsound practices, is in an unsafe or unsound condition to continue 
operations or has violated any applicable law, regulation, rule, order or condition imposed by the 
FDIC.  We do not currently know of any practice, condition or violation that may lead to termination 
of our deposit insurance.   

Federal Home Loan Bank System.  Sidney Federal is a member of the Federal Home 
Loan Bank System, which consists of 11 regional Federal Home Loan Banks.  The Federal Home 
Loan Bank System provides a central credit facility primarily for member institutions as well as 
other entities involved in home mortgage lending.  As a member of the FHLB of Topeka, Sidney 
Federal is required to acquire and hold shares of capital stock in the FHLB of Topeka.  As of 
December 31, 2018, Sidney Federal was in compliance with this requirement.  Sidney Federal’s 
ability to borrow from the FHLB of Topeka provides an additional source of liquidity and Sidney 
Federal has historically used limited FHLB of Topeka advances to help fund its operations. 
However, at December 31, 2018, Sidney Federal did not have any outstanding borrowings from 
the FHLB of Topeka. 

Other Regulations 

Interest and other charges collected or contracted for by Sidney Federal are subject to 
state usury laws and federal laws concerning interest rates.  Sidney Federal’s operations are also 
subject to federal laws applicable to credit transactions, such as the:  

 Truth-In-Lending Act, governing disclosures of credit terms to consumer 
borrowers; 

 Home Mortgage Disclosure Act, requiring financial institutions to provide 
information to enable the public and public officials to determine whether a financial 
institution is fulfilling its obligation to help meet the housing needs of the community 
it serves; 

 Equal Credit Opportunity Act, prohibiting discrimination on the basis of race, creed 
or other prohibited factors in extending credit; 

 Fair Credit Reporting Act, governing the use and provision of information to credit 
reporting agencies; 
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 Fair Debt Collection Act, governing the manner in which consumer debts may be
collected by collection agencies;

 Truth in Savings Act; and

 rules and regulations of the various federal agencies charged with the
responsibility of implementing such federal laws.

The operations of Sidney Federal also are subject to the: 

 Right to Financial Privacy Act, which imposes a duty to maintain confidentiality of
consumer financial records and prescribes procedures for complying with
administrative subpoenas of financial records;

 Electronic Funds Transfer Act and Regulation E promulgated thereunder, which
govern automatic deposits to and withdrawals from deposit accounts and
customers’ rights and liabilities arising from the use of automated teller machines
and other electronic banking services;

 Check Clearing for the 21st Century Act (also known as “Check 21”), which gives
“substitute checks,” such as digital check images and copies made from that
image, the same legal standing as the original paper check;

 The USA PATRIOT Act, which requires savings associations to, among other
things, establish broadened anti-money laundering compliance programs, and due
diligence policies and controls to ensure the detection and reporting of money
laundering. Such required compliance programs are intended to supplement
existing compliance requirements that also apply to financial institutions under the
Bank Secrecy Act and the Office of Foreign Assets Control regulations; and

 The Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act, which places limitations on the sharing of consumer
financial information by financial institutions with unaffiliated third parties.
Specifically, the Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act requires all financial institutions offering
financial products or services to retail customers to provide such customers with
the financial institution’s privacy policy and provide such customers the opportunity
to “opt out” of the sharing of certain personal financial information with unaffiliated
third parties.

Acquisition.  Under the Federal Change in Bank Control Act, a notice must be submitted 
to the OCC if any person (including a company), or group acting in concert, seeks to acquire direct 
or indirect “control” of a federal savings association.  Under certain circumstances, a change of 
control may occur, and prior notice is required, upon the acquisition of 10% or more of the 
association’s outstanding voting stock, unless the OCC has found that the acquisition will not 
result in control of the association.  A change in control definitively occurs upon the acquisition of 
25% or more of the association’s outstanding voting stock.  Under the Change in Bank Control 
Act, the OCC generally has 60 days from the filing of a complete notice to act, taking into 
consideration certain factors, including the financial and managerial resources of the acquirer and 
the competitive effects of the acquisition. 
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Federal Securities Laws 

Sidney Federal’s common stock is registered with the OCC under the Securities Exchange 
Act of 1934.  Sidney Federal is subject to the information, proxy solicitation, insider trading 
restrictions and other requirements under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as implemented 
by the OCC. 

Emerging Growth Company Status  

The JOBS Act, which was enacted in 2012, has made numerous changes to the federal 
securities laws to facilitate access to capital markets.  Under the JOBS Act, a company or bank 
with total annual gross revenues of less than $1.07 billion during its most recently completed fiscal 
year qualifies as an “emerging growth company.”  Sidney Federal qualifies as an emerging growth 
company under the JOBS Act. 

An “emerging growth company” may choose not to hold stockholder votes to approve 
annual executive compensation (more frequently referred to as “say-on-pay” votes) or executive 
compensation payable in connection with a merger (more frequently referred to as “say-on-golden 
parachute” votes).  An emerging growth company also is not subject to the requirement that its 
auditors attest to the effectiveness of the company’s internal control over financial reporting, and 
can provide scaled disclosure regarding executive compensation; however, Sidney Federal will 
also not be subject to the auditor attestation requirement or additional executive compensation 
disclosure so long as it remains a “smaller reporting company” under Securities and Exchange 
Commission regulations, as applied by the OCC, (generally less than $75 million of voting and 
non-voting equity held by non-affiliates).  Finally, an emerging growth company may elect to 
comply with new or amended accounting pronouncements in the same manner as a private 
company, but must make such election when the company is first required to file a registration 
statement.  Such an election is irrevocable during the period a company is an emerging growth 
company.  Sidney Federal has elected to comply with new or amended accounting 
pronouncements in the same manner as a private company.  

A company loses emerging growth company status on the earlier of: (i) the last day of the 
fiscal year of the company during which it had total annual gross revenues of $1.07 billion or more; 
(ii) the last day of the fiscal year of the issuer following the fifth anniversary of the date of the first
sale of common equity securities of the company pursuant to an effective registration statement
under the Securities Act of 1933; (iii) the date on which such company has, during the previous
three-year period, issued more than $1.0 billion in non-convertible debt; or (iv) the date on which
such company is deemed to be a “large accelerated filer” under Securities and Exchange
Commission regulations, as applied by the OCC (generally, at least $700 million of voting and
non-voting equity held by non-affiliates).

ITEM 1A. Risk Factors 

The presentation of Risk Factors is not required for smaller reporting companies like 
Sidney Federal. 

ITEM 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments 

None. 
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ITEM 2. Properties 

We operate from our main office located at 1045 10th Avenue, Sidney, Nebraska 69162, 
which we own.  The net book value of our premises, land and equipment was approximately 
$44,000 at December 31, 2018.   

ITEM 3. Legal Proceedings 

We are not involved in any pending legal proceedings other than routine legal proceedings 
occurring in the ordinary course of business. At December 31, 2018, we were not involved in any 
legal proceedings the outcome of which would be material to our financial condition or results of 
operations. 

ITEM 4. Mine Safety Disclosures 

Not applicable. 

     PART II 

ITEM 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and 
Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities 

Our shares of common stock are traded on the OTC Pink Marketplace under the symbol 
“ SFSA”. The approximate number of holders of record of Sidney Federal’s common stock as of 
March 18th, 2019 was 38.  Certain shares of Sidney Federal are held in “nominee” or “street” 
name and accordingly, the number of beneficial owners of such shares is not known or included 
in the foregoing number.  Sidney Federal began trading on the OTC Pink Marketplace on July 27, 
2018; however, no trades have been made in the stock.  

We have no current plan or intention to pay cash dividends to our stockholders. However, 
if in the future the board of directors considers the payment of dividends, the payment and amount 
of any dividend payments will be subject to statutory and regulatory limitations, and will depend 
upon a number of factors, including the following: regulatory capital requirements; our financial 
condition and results of operations; our other uses of funds for the long-term value of stockholders; 
tax considerations; and general economic conditions. No assurance can be given that the board 
of directors will ever consider the payment of dividends and stockholders should have no 
expectation of such. 
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ITEM 6. Selected Financial Data 

The following information is derived in part from the consolidated financial statements of 
Sidney Federal Savings and Loan Association. For additional information, reference is made to 
“Item 7 — Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of 
Operations” and the Financial Statements of Sidney Federal Savings and Loan Association and 
related notes included elsewhere in this Annual Report.  

At December 31, 
2018 2017 2016 

(Dollars in Thousands) 
Selected Financial Condition Data: 

Total assets ....................................................................  $ 16,993 $ 16,385 $ 17,990 
Cash and cash equivalents .............................................  798 594 1,367 
Certificates of deposit ....................................................  — 494 494 
Securities available for sale ...........................................  5,075 2,186 3,761 
Stock in Federal Home Loan Bank of Topeka (“FHLB 

of Topeka”) and Midwest Independent Bank 
(“MIB”) ......................................................................  97 99 126 

Loans receivable, net .....................................................  10,777 12,678 11,991 
Premises and equipment ................................................  44 55 63 
Other assets (1) ..............................................................  202 279 188 
Deposits .........................................................................  15,163 15,055 15,469 
Advances from FHLB of Topeka...................................  — — 1,000 
Total equity ....................................................................  1,569 1,048 1,294 

(1) Includes accrued interest receivable and other assets.
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Years Ended December 31, 

2018 2017 2016 
(Dollars in Thousands) 

Selected Operating Data: 

Interest income ..........................................................  $ 610 $ 606 $ 618 
Interest expense .........................................................  74 79 97 

Net interest income ................................................  536 527 521 
Provision for loan losses ............................................  — 4 25 

Net interest income after provision for loan losses  536 523 496 
Noninterest income ....................................................  72 33 71 
Noninterest expense  ..................................................  900 796 778 
Loss before income taxes  ..........................................  (292) (240) (211) 
Income taxes ..............................................................  —  — — 

Net loss ..................................................................  $ (292) $ (240) $ (211) 

Selected Financial Ratios and Other Data: 

Performance Ratios: 
Return on average assets (ratio of net loss to average 

total assets) ..................................................................  (1.74)% (1.39)% (1.07)% 
Return on average equity (ratio of net loss to average 

total equity) ..................................................................  (23.14)% (20.12)% (14.76)% 
Interest rate spread (1) .....................................................  3.20% 3.03% 2.62% 
Net interest margin (2) .....................................................  3.27% 3.09% 2.69% 
Efficiency ratio (3) ...........................................................  148.03% 142.14% 131.42% 
Average equity to average total assets .............................  7.53% 6.93% 7.29% 

Asset Quality Ratios: 
Non-performing assets to total assets ...............................  0.39% 0.52% 0.26% 
Non-performing loans to total loans ................................  0.60% 0.66% 0.39% 
Allowance for loan losses to non-performing loans .........  184.85% 143.53% 251.06% 
Allowance for loan losses to total loans ...........................  1.12% 0.95% 0.97% 
Net charge-offs to average loans outstanding (1) .............  —% —% —% 

Capital Ratios: 
Total capital (to risk-weighted assets)..............................  17.34% 15.18% 18.24% 
Tier 1 capital (to risk-weighted assets) ............................  16.09% 13.94% 16.97% 
Common equity Tier 1 capital (to risk-weighted assets)  .  16.09% 13.94% 16.97% 
Tier 1 capital (to average assets) ......................................  9.25% 6.55% 7.55% 

Other Data:
Number of offices ............................................................  1 1 1 
Full-time equivalent employees .......................................  6 7 6 

(1) The interest rate spread represents the difference between the weighted-average yield on interest-earning assets and the
weighted-average cost of interest-bearing liabilities for the year.

(2) The net interest margin represents net interest income as a percentage of average interest-earning assets for the year.
(3) The efficiency ratio represents noninterest expense divided by the sum of net interest income and noninterest income.

ITEM 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results 
of Operations 

This discussion and analysis reflects our financial statements and other relevant statistical 
data, and is intended to enhance your understanding of our financial condition and results of 
operations.  The information in this section has been derived from the financial statements, which 
appear elsewhere in this annual report. You should read the information in this section in 
conjunction with the other business and financial information provided in this annual report. 



 

 
35 

Overview 
  

Sidney Federal Savings and Loan Association is a federal stock savings and loan 
association headquartered in Sidney, Nebraska.  We offer financial services to individuals, 
families and businesses through our office located in Sidney, Nebraska. We are a community-
oriented bank offering a variety of financial products and services to meet the needs of our 
customers. We believe that our community orientation and personalized service distinguishes us 
from larger banks that operate in our market area.  

Our business consists primarily of accepting deposits from the general public and 
investing those deposits, together with funds generated from operations, and to a lesser extent 
borrowings, in one- to four-family owner occupied and non-owner occupied real estate loans, 
commercial loans and consumer loans.  We offer a variety of deposit accounts, including checking 
accounts, money market accounts, savings accounts and certificates of deposit. 

Critical Accounting Policies  
  

A summary of our accounting policies is described in Note 1 to the financial statements 
included in this annual report. Critical accounting estimates are necessary in the application of 
certain accounting policies and procedures and are particularly susceptible to significant change. 
Critical accounting policies are defined as those involving significant judgments and assumptions 
by management that could have a material impact on the carrying value of certain assets or on 
income under different assumptions or conditions. Management believes that the most critical 
accounting policies, which involve the most complex or subjective decisions or assessments, are 
as follows: 

  
Allowance for Loan Losses. We consider the allowance for loan losses to be a critical 

accounting policy. The allowance for loan losses is the amount estimated by management as 
necessary to cover probable losses inherent in the loan portfolio at the balance sheet date. The 
allowance is established through the provision for loan losses, which is charged to operations. 
Determining the amount of the allowance for loan losses involves a high degree of judgment. 
Among the material estimates required to establish the allowance are: loss exposure at default; 
the amount and timing of future cash flows on impacted loans; value of collateral; and 
determination of loss factors to be applied to the various elements of the portfolio. All of these 
estimates are susceptible to significant change. Management reviews the level of the allowance 
at least quarterly and establishes the provision for loan losses based upon an evaluation of the 
portfolio, past loss experience, current economic conditions and other factors related to the 
collectability of the loan portfolio. Although we believe that we use the best information available 
to establish the allowance for loan losses, future adjustments to the allowance may be necessary 
if economic conditions differ substantially from the assumptions used in making the evaluation. In 
addition, the OCC, as an integral part of its examination process, periodically reviews our 
allowance for loan losses. Such agency may require us to recognize adjustments to the allowance 
based on its judgments about information available to it at the time of its examination. A large loss 
could deplete the allowance and require increased provisions to replenish the allowance, which 
would adversely affect results of operations. See Note 1 of the notes to the financial statements 
included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.  
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Income Taxes. Income taxes are provided for the tax effects of certain transactions 
reported in the financial statements. Income taxes consist of taxes currently due plus deferred 
taxes related primarily to temporary differences between the financial reporting and income tax 
basis of the allowance for loan losses, premises and equipment, certain state tax credits, 
operating losses, and deferred loan origination costs. The deferred tax assets and liabilities 
represent the future tax return consequences of the temporary differences, which will either be 
taxable or deductible when the assets and liabilities are recovered or settled. Deferred tax assets 
are reduced by a valuation allowance when, in the opinion of management, it is more likely than 
not that some portion of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. Deferred tax assets and 
liabilities are reflected at income tax rates applicable to the period in which the deferred tax assets 
and liabilities are expected to be realized or settled. As changes in tax laws or rates are enacted, 
deferred tax assets and liabilities are adjusted through the provision for income taxes. See Note 
1 of the notes to the financial statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.  

On December 22, 2017, the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act was enacted into law, and includes 
among other items, a reduction in the federal corporate income tax structure to a flat rate of 21%, 
effective January 1, 2018.  As a result, the Association’s net deferred tax asset at December 31, 
2017 was remeasured at the new tax rate.    

Estimation of Fair Values. Securities classified as available for sale are reported at fair 
value, with unrealized gains and losses excluded from operations and reported as a separate 
component of equity.  The Association does not purchase securities for trading purposes.  The 
cost of securities sold is determined by specific identification.  Declines in fair value of securities 
available for sale that are deemed to be other-than-temporary are charged to operations as a 
realized loss.  In estimating other-than-temporary impairment losses, management of the 
Association considers the length of time and the extent to which the fair value has been less than 
cost, the financial condition and near-term prospects of the issuer, the Association’s intent to sell 
the security or whether it is more likely than not that it will be required to sell the security before 
the anticipated recovery of its remaining amortized cost basis and evaluation of cash flows to 
determine if the securities have been adversely affected. See Note 1 of the notes to the financial 
statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. 
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Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition for the Years Ended December 31, 2018 
and 2017 
 

At December 31, Increase 
(Decrease) % Change  2018 2017 

 (Dollars in Thousands)  
Summary of Selected Balance  
Sheet Data: 

    

     
Total assets ...........................................  $ 16,993 $ 16,385 $ 608   3.71% 
Cash and cash equivalents ....................   798  594  204     34.34% 
Certificates of deposit ...........................   —  494  (494)  (100.00)% 
Securities available for sale  5,075  2,186  2,889   132.16% 
Stock in FHLB of Topeka and 

Midwest Independent Bank ...............   97  99  (2)  
 

(2.02)% 
Loans receivable, net ............................   10,777  12,678  (1,901)   (14.99)% 
Premises and equipment .......................   44  55  (11)   (20.00)% 
Other assets (1) .....................................   202  279  (77)   (27.60)% 
Deposits ................................................   15,163  15,055  108  0.72%  
Advances from FHLB of Topeka  —  —  —  — 
Advances from borrowers for taxes and 

insurance ..........................................   147  175  (28) 
 
  (16.00)% 

Other liabilities .....................................   114  107  7   6.54% 
Total stockholders’ equity .....................   1,569  1,048  521   49.71% 
     

___________________________ 

(1) Includes accrued interest receivable, prepaid income taxes, deferred tax asset, deferred 
conversion costs and other assets. 

Total Assets.  Total assets increased $.6 million, or 3.71%, to $17.0 million at December 
31, 2018 from $16.4 million at December 31, 2017. The decrease in total assets was due primarily 
to increases in cash and cash equivalents and securities, partially offset by decreases in loans 
receivable and other assets. 

Loans Receivable, Net.  Net loans decreased $1.9 million, or 14.99%, to $10.8 million at 
December 31, 2018 from $12.7 million at December 31, 2017, due loan originations being sold in 
the secondary market and principal repayments.  The one- to four-family owner occupied real 
estate loan portfolio decreased $1.7 million, or 15.18%, to $9.5 million at December 31, 2018 from 
$11.2 million at December 31, 2017 due to loan originations sold in the secondary market.  There 
were modest changes in the other loan segments.   

Securities.  At December 31, 2018 and 2017, all securities were classified as available 
for sale and included primarily mortgage-backed securities.  Securities increased $2.9 million, or 
132.06%, to $5.1 million at December 31, 2018 from $2.2 million at December 31, 2017 due to 
the purchase of $3.6 million of mortgage-backed securities and principal collections of $733,000.     

Cash and Cash Equivalents.  Cash and cash equivalents increased $204,000, or 34.3%, 
to $798,000 at December 31, 2018 from $594,000 at December 31, 2017.  During 2018, the 
Association utilized FHLB of Topeka overnight deposits and other excess funds from the FHLB 
demand account to fund deposit withdrawals and other corporate obligations.   

Other Assets.  Other assets decreased principally as a result of the netting of deferred 
costs against proceeds of the conversion from a mutual to stock savings association.  
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Deposits.  Deposits increased $108,000, or .72%, to $15.2 million at December 31, 2018 
from $15.1 million at December 31, 2017.  The majority of the increase in deposits was in 
certificates of deposit. The Association’s core deposits, which include noninterest-bearing 
checking, interest-bearing checking, savings and money market accounts, increased $343,000.  
The Association intends to increase its core deposits, in particular, checking and money market 
accounts, through its existing and new loan customers and aggressive marketing efforts.   

Advances from FHLB of Topeka.  At December 31, 2018 and 2017, there were no 
advances from the FHLB of Topeka outstanding.    

MIB Investment.  At December 31, 2018 and 2017, the Association owned $30,000 of 
stock in MIB in order to be a member of MIB. MIB provides correspondent banking services to 
community banks, including the Association. 

Stockholders’ Equity.  Total equity increased $521,000 to $1.6 million at December 31, 
2018 from $1.0 million at December 31, 2017, primarily as a result of the sale of 132,250 shares 
of common stock, representing the adjusted maximum of the offering range, at $10.00 per share, 
for gross offering proceeds of $1,322,500. Proceeds, net of issuance costs, were $812,000. 

Comparison of Operating Results for the Years Ended December 31, 2018 and 2017  
 

General.  The Association had a net loss of $292,000 for the year ended December 31, 
2018, compared to a net loss of $240,000 for the year ended December 31, 2017. The 
Association’s net loss for 2018 was higher due to the expenses incurred in preparation of public 
securities filing and additional expenses as a public stock institution. 

   
For the Year Ended December 31, Increase 

(Decrease) % Change  2018 2017 
 (Dollars in Thousands)  
Summary of Net Interest Income:     
     
Interest Income:     

Loans receivable ............................  $ 504 $ 543 $ (39)  (7.18)% 
Securities, taxable ..........................   61  35  26  74.29% 
Securities, nontaxable ....................   12  12  —  — 
Other interest-earning assets ..........   33  16  17  106.25% 

Total interest income ...................   610  606  4  0.66% 
     
Interest Expense:     

Checking and money market 
accounts .......................................   2  3  (1)  (33.33)% 

Savings accounts ...........................   6  4  2  50.00% 
Certificates of deposit ....................   66  53  13  24.53% 
Total deposits ................................   74  60  14  23.33% 
Advances from FHLB of Topeka ..   —  19  (19)  (100.00)% 

Total interest expense .................   74  79  (5)  (6.33)% 
     
Net interest income $ 536 $ 527 $ 9  1.71% 

 
Interest Income.  Interest income increased $4,000, or 0.66%, to $610,000 for 2018 from 

$606,000 for 2017. The increase in interest income resulted primarily from higher yields on loans 
and taxable securities, partially offset by a lower average balance of loans due, in part, to the sale 
of loan originations in the secondary market.  
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The average yield on loans increased to 4.32% for 2018 from 4.25% for 2017. The average 
yield on taxable securities increased to 2.16% for 2018 from 1.32% for 2017. The average balance 
of loans decreased to $11.7 million for 2018 from $12.8 million for 2017. In contrast, the average 
balance of taxable securities increased to $2.8 million for 2018 from $2.6 million for 2017, as the 
Association purchased mortgage back securities.  

Interest Expense.  Interest expense decreased $5,000, or 6.33%, to $74,000 for 2018 
from $79,000 for 2017 primarily as a result of lower average balance on FHLB of Topeka 
advances, partially offset by higher average rates paid on certificates of deposit. The average 
balance of FHLB of Topeka advances decreased to $0 for 2018 from $393,000 for 2017. The 
average rate paid on certificates of deposit increased to 0.97% for 2018 from 0.74% for 2017 due 
to higher market interest rates.  

Net Interest Income.  Net interest income increased $9,000, or 1.7%, to $536,000 for the 
year ended December 31, 2018 from $527,000 for the year ended December 31, 2017.  The 
modest increase in net interest income was mostly attributable to a higher net interest rate spread, 
partially offset by a decrease in interest-earning assets. 

The net interest rate spread increased to 3.20% for 2018 from 3.03% for 2017 as the yield 
on average interest-earning assets increased by 16 basis points and the cost of average interest-
bearing liabilities decreased by one basis point.  The increase in the yield on average interest-
earning assets was primarily due to the increase in the rate environment coupled with the 
purchase of mortgage-backed securities at higher rates that those previously included in the 
investment portfolio. These increases were offset by a lower composition of average loans 
outstanding as the average balance of loans represented 71.2% of the total average balance of 
interest-earning assets during 2018 compared to 74.9% during 2017.  The decline in the cost of 
average interest-bearing liabilities was primarily due to the decline in the average balance of 
FHLB of Topeka advances offset by increased rates on deposits reflecting the increase in the 
interest rate environment.       

Provision for Loan Losses.  The provision for loan losses decreased $4,000 to $0 for 
the year ended December 31, 2018, compared to $4,000 for the year ended December 31, 2017.  
The decrease in the provision for loan losses was primarily due to the decrease in loans 
outstanding.    

For the Year Ended 
December 31, Increase 

(Decrease) % Change 2018 2017 
(Dollars in Thousands) 

Summary of Noninterest Income: 

Noninterest Income: 
Service charges on deposit accounts ..........  $ 13 $ 13 $ — —% 
Gain on securities available for sale ...........  — — — —% 
Gain on sale of loans ..................................  55 14 42 300.00% 
Other ..........................................................  4 6 (4) (66.67)%

Total noninterest income $ 72 $ 33 $ 39 118.18%

Noninterest Income.  Noninterest income increased $39,000, or 118.80%, to $72,000 for 
the year ended December 31, 2018 from $33,000 for the year ended December 31, 2017.  The 
increase is due primarily to the gain on sale of loans during 2018.   
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At December 31, Increase 
(Decrease) % Change 2018 2017 

(Dollars in Thousands) 
Summary of Noninterest Expense: 

Noninterest Expense: 
Compensation and benefits ........................  $ 474 $ 434 $ 40 9.22% 
Occupancy expense ....................................  23 25 (2) (8.00)%
Equipment and data processing expense ....  118 140 (22) (15.71)%
FDIC premium expense .............................  17 13 4 30.77% 
Professional and regulatory fees ................  143 63 80 126.98% 
Insurance expense ......................................  25 24 1 4.17% 
Debit card expense, net ..............................  21 26 (5) (19.23)%
Correspondent bank service charges ..........  12 12 — —
Other ..........................................................  67 59 8 13.56%

Total noninterest expense $ 900 $ 796 $ 104 13.07% 

Noninterest Expense.  Noninterest expense increased $104,000 or 13.07%, to $900,000 
for the year ended December 31, 2018 from $796,000 for the year ended December 31, 2017 
due primarily to higher compensation and benefits and professional and regulatory fees as a result 
of the conversion from a mutual to stock organization, partially offset by lower data processing 
expense.   

Compensation and benefits increased $40,000, or 9.22%, to $474,000 for the year ended 
December 31, 2018 from $434,000 for the year ended December 31, 2017 due primarily to higher 
salary levels as a result of the conversion from a mutual to stock organization.  Professional and 
regulatory fees increased $80,000, or 126.98%, to $143,000 for the year ended December 31, 
2018, compared to $63,000 for the year ended December 31, 2017. The increase was primarily 
related to the fees for audit and regulatory filing expense as a stock institution. 

Equipment and data processing expense decreased $22,000, or 15.71%, to $118,000 for 
2018, compared to $140,000 for 2017 due primarily to a lower level of data processing costs as 
a result of a renegotiated contract in 2017.   

Income Tax Expense.  The Association has experienced multiple years of taxable losses 
which raises doubt about the Association’s ability to utilize the net deferred tax asset.  Accordingly, 
valuation allowances equal to the tax benefits recorded in 2018 and 2017 were recorded resulting 
in no net income tax benefit recorded for 2018 and 2017.  In addition, a valuation allowance has 
been recorded against all components of the net deferred tax asset, except for the net unrealized 
loss on available for sale securities 
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Average Balances and Yields 

The following table sets forth average balance sheets, average yields and costs, and 
certain other information at and for the years indicated.  No tax-equivalent yield adjustments were 
made, as the effect thereof was not material.  All average balances are daily average balances. 
Non-accrual loans were included in the computation of average balances, but have been reflected 
in the table as loans carrying a zero yield.  The yields set forth below include the effect of deferred 
fees, discounts and premiums that are amortized or accreted to interest income or interest 
expense. 

For the Year Ended December 31, 

2018 2017 

Average  
Outstanding 

Balance Interest 
Yield/ 
Rate  

Average  
Outstanding 

Balance Interest 
Yield/ 
Rate 

(Dollars in Thousands) 

Interest-earning assets: 
Loans receivable ....................................  $ 11,676 $ 504 4.32 $ 12,768 $ 543 4.25% 
Securities, taxable ..................................  2,821 61 2.16 2,642 35 1.32 
Securities, non-taxable 250 12 4.80 247 12 4.86 
Other interest-earning assets ...........................  1,656 33 1.99 1,388 16 1.15 

Total interest-earning assets .......................  16,403 610 3.72 17,045 606 3.56 
Noninterest-earning assets ..............................  346 170 

Total assets .................................................  $ 16,749 $ 17,215 

Interest-bearing liabilities: 

Checking and MMDA accounts .....................  $ 2,557 2 .08 $ 2,867 3 0.10 
Savings accounts .............................................  4,930  6 .12 4,496 4 0.09 
Certificates of deposit .....................................  6,783 66 .97 7,145 53 0.74 

Total deposits..............................................  14,270 74 .52 14,508 60 0.41 
Advances from FHLB of Topeka ...................  — — — 393 19 4.83 

Total interest-bearing liabilities .................  14,270 74 .52 14,901 79 0.53 
Noninterest-bearing checking deposits ...........  963 899 
Noninterest-bearing liabilities ........................  254 222 
Stockholders’ Equity .......................................  1,262 1,193 

 Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity ..  $ 16,749 $ 17,215 

Net interest income .........................................  $ 536 $ 527 
Net interest rate spread (1) ................................  3.20% 3.03% 
Net interest-earning assets (2) ..........................  $ 2,133 $ 2,144 
Net interest margin (3) ......................................  3.27% 3.09% 

Average of interest-earning assets to 
interest-bearing liabilities ...............................  114.95% 114.39% 

_____________________ 
(1) Represents the difference between the weighted average yield on average interest-earning assets and the weighted average cost of

average interest-bearing liabilities.
(2) Net interest-earning assets represents total interest-earning assets less total interest-bearing liabilities.
(3) Net interest margin represents net interest income divided by total interest-earning assets.
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Rate/Volume Analysis 

The following table presents the effects of changing rates and volumes on our net interest 
income for the years indicated. The rate column shows the effects attributable to changes in rate 
(changes in rate multiplied by prior volume). The volume column shows the effects attributable to 
changes in volume (changes in volume multiplied by prior rate). The total column represents the 
sum of the prior columns. For purposes of this table, changes attributable to both rate and volume, 
which cannot be segregated, have been allocated to the changes due to rate and the changes 
due to volume in proportion to the absolute dollar change in each. 

Years Ended December 31, 
2018 vs. 2017 

Increase (Decrease) 
Due to 

Total 
Increase 

(Decrease) Volume Rate 
(In thousands) 

Interest-earning assets: 
Loans receivable ........................  $ (47) $ 8 $ (39)
Securities, taxable ......................  3 23 26 
Securities, non-taxable — — —
Other interest-earning assets .....  4  13  17 

Total interest-earning assets .  (40) 44  4 

Interest-bearing liabilities: 
Checking and MMDA accounts  — (1) (1)
Savings accounts .......................  — 2 2 
Certificates of deposit ................  (3) 16 13 

Total deposits ........................  (3) 17 14 

Advances from FHLB of Topeka ..  (19) — (19) 

Total interest-bearing 
liabilities ...........................  (22) 17  (5) 

Change in net interest income ........  $ (18) $ 27 $ 9 

Liquidity and Capital Resources 

Liquidity Management. Liquidity describes our ability to meet the financial obligations 
that arise in the ordinary course of business. Liquidity is primarily needed to meet the borrowing 
and deposit withdrawal requirements of our customers and to fund current and planned 
expenditures. Our primary sources of funds are deposits, principal and interest payments on loans 
and securities, and proceeds from sales, maturities and calls of securities. We also have the ability 
to borrow from the FHLB of Topeka. As of December 31, 2018, Sidney Federal did not have any 
FHLB of Topeka advances with unused borrowing capacity of $8.1 million.  

The board of directors is responsible for establishing and monitoring our liquidity targets 
and strategies in order to ensure that sufficient liquidity exists for meeting the borrowing needs 
and deposit withdrawals of our customers as well as unanticipated contingencies. We believe that 
we have enough sources of liquidity to satisfy our short- and long-term liquidity needs as of 
December 31, 2018. 

We monitor and adjust our investments in liquid assets based upon our assessment of: 
(1) expected loan demand; (2) expected deposit flows; (3) yields available on interest-earning
deposits and securities; and (4) the objectives of our asset/liability management program. Excess
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liquid assets are invested generally in interest-earning deposits and short- and intermediate-term 
securities.  

 
While maturities and scheduled amortization of loans and securities are predictable 

sources of funds, deposit flows and loan prepayments are greatly influenced by general interest 
rates, economic conditions, and competition. Our most liquid assets are cash and cash 
equivalents, which include federal funds sold and interest-bearing deposits in other banks. The 
levels of these assets are dependent on our operating, financing, lending and investing activities 
during any given period. At December 31, 2018, cash and cash equivalents totaled $798,000. 
Securities classified as available for sale, which provide additional sources of liquidity, totaled 
$5.1 million at December 31, 2018. 

 
Our cash flows are comprised of three primary classifications: cash flows from operating 

activities, investing activities, and financing activities. Net cash used for operating activities was 
$(177,000) and $(244,000) for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively. Net 
cash provided by investing activities, was $(511,000) and $868,000 for the years ended 
December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively. Net cash provided by (used for) financing activities 
was $892,000 million and $(1.4) million for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017. 

 
We are committed to maintaining a strong liquidity position. We monitor our liquidity 

position on a daily basis. We anticipate that we will have sufficient funds to meet our current 
funding commitments. Certificates of deposit due within one year of December 31, 2018, totaled 
$4.8 million, or 72.3%, of total deposits. If these deposits do not remain with us, we will be required 
to seek other sources of funds, such as other deposits and FHLB of Topeka advances. Depending 
on market conditions, we may be required to pay higher rates on such deposits or borrowings 
than we currently pay. We believe, however, based on past experience that a significant portion 
of such deposits will remain with us. We have the ability to attract and retain deposits by adjusting 
the interest rates offered. 

 
Capital Management. Sidney Federal is subject to various regulatory capital 

requirements, including a risk-based capital measure. The risk-based capital guidelines include 
both a definition of capital and a framework for calculating risk-weighted assets by assigning 
balance sheet assets and off-balance sheet items to broad risk categories. See “Item 1. 
Business—Supervision and Regulation—Federal Banking Regulation—Capital Requirements” 
and Note 10 of the Notes to the Financial Statements. 
 
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements and Aggregate Contractual Obligations 
 

Commitments.  As a financial services provider, we routinely are a party to various 
financial instruments with off-balance-sheet risks, such as commitments to extend credit and 
unused lines of credit. While these contractual obligations represent our future cash requirements, 
a significant portion of commitments to extend credit may expire without being drawn upon. Such 
commitments are subject to the same credit policies and approval process accorded to loans we 
make. At December 31, 2018, we had outstanding commitments to originate loans of $323,000. 
We anticipate that we will have sufficient funds available to meet our current lending 
commitments. 

  
Contractual Obligations. In the ordinary course of our operations, we enter into certain 

contractual obligations. Such obligations include data processing services, operating leases for 
premises and equipment, agreements with respect to borrowed funds and deposit liabilities. 
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ITEM 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk 

Not required for smaller reporting companies.  

ITEM 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

Sidney Federal’s Financial Statements are presented in Item 15 of this Annual Report on 
Form 10-K. 

ITEM 9. Changes In and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and
Financial Disclosure 

None. 

ITEM 9A. Controls and Procedures 

Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our 
principal executive officer and principal financial officer, we evaluated the effectiveness of the 
design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) and 
15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act) as of the end of the period covered by this report. Based upon 
that evaluation, the principal executive officer and principal financial officer concluded that, as of 
the end of the period covered by this report, our disclosure controls and procedures were effective. 

There were no changes made in our internal controls during the quarter ended December 
31, 2018 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s 
internal control over financial reporting. 

This Annual Report does not include a report of management’s assessment regarding 
internal control over financial reporting due to a transition period established by rules of the 
Securities and Exchange Commission for newly public companies. 

ITEM 9B. Other Information

None. 

PART III 

ITEM 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

The information contained under the sections captioned “Proposal I – Election of 
Directors” in Sidney Federal’s definitive Proxy Statement for the 2019 Annual Meeting of 
Stockholders (the “Proxy Statement”) is incorporated herein by reference. 
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ITEM 11. Executive Compensation 

The information contained under the section captioned “ Proposal I – Election of Directors 
– Executive Compensation” will be contained in the definitive Proxy Statement and is incorporated
herein by reference.

ITEM 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and
Related Stockholder Matters 

The information called for by this Item will be contained in the definitive Proxy Statement 
and is incorporated herein by reference 

ITEM 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence

The information required by this item is incorporated herein by reference to the sections 
captioned “Proposal I – Election of Directors – Transactions with Certain Related Persons,” “– 
Board Independence” and “– Meetings and Committees of the Board of Directors” of the Proxy 
Statement. 

ITEM 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services

The information required by this item is incorporated herein by reference to the section 
captioned “Proposal II – Ratification of Appointment of Independent Registered Public Accounting 
Firm” of the Proxy Statement. 

      PART IV 

ITEM 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules 

(a)(1)  Financial Statements 

See audited financial statements starting on page F-1, which appear in this Annual Report 
on Form 10-K immediately after Item 16. 

(a)(3)  Exhibits 

3.1 Charter of Sidney Federal Savings and Loan Association 
3.2 Bylaws of Sidney Federal Savings and Loan Association 
4 Form of Common Stock Certificate of Sidney Federal Savings and Loan Association 
21 Subsidiaries of Registrant 
31.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-

14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, as adopted pursuant to 
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 

32  Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 
Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 

_______________________________ 

ITEM 16. Form 10-K Summary 

None.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 

To the Board of Directors, Audit Committee and Stockholders 
Sidney Federal Savings and Loan Association 
Sidney, Nebraska 

Opinion on the Financial Statements 

We have audited the accompanying balance sheets of Sidney Federal Savings and Loan Association (the 
“Association”) as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, the related statements of operations, comprehensive 
loss, stockholders’ equity and cash flows for each of the years then ended, and the related notes 
(collectively referred to as the “financial statements”).  In our opinion, the financial statements referred to 
above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Association as of December 31, 
2018 and 2017, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the years then ended, in 
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 

Basis for Opinion 

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Association’s management.  Our responsibility is to 
express an opinion on the Association’s financial statements based on our audits.   

We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United 
States) (“PCAOB”) and are required to be independent with respect to the Association in accordance with 
the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange 
Commission and the PCAOB. 

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB.  Those standards require that 
we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are 
free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud.  The Company is not required to have, nor 
were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting.  As part of our audits 
we are required to obtain an understanding of internal control over financial reporting but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Association’s internal control over financial 
reporting.  Accordingly, we express no such opinion.  

Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks.  Such 
procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial statements.  Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant 
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.  
We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion. 

BKD, LLP  

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2017. 

Indianapolis, Indiana 
April 12, 2019 
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SIDNEY FEDERAL SAVINGS AND LOAN ASSOCIATION 
  
 Balance Sheets 
 
 December 31, 2018 and 2017 
 

 

2018 2017

      Assets

Cash $ 127 $ 129

Interest-bearing deposits in other banks:

Federal Home Loan Bank of Topeka ("FHLBT") demand account 371 465

FHLBT overnight deposit account 300                 -                      

            Cash and cash equivalents 798 594

Certificates of deposit -                      494

Securities available for sale, at market value 

   (amortized cost of $5,078 and $2,189, respectively) 5,075 2,186

Stock in FHLBT and MIB 97 99

Loans receivable, net of allowance for loan losses 

   of $122 and $122, respectively 10,777 12,678

Premises and equipment, net 44 55

Accrued interest receivable:

   Securities and certificates of deposit 19 11

   Loans receivable 28 36

Other assets 155 232

        Total assets $ 16,993 $ 16,385

      Liabilities and Equity

Deposits:

Noninterest-bearing $ 1,131 $ 834

Interest-bearing 14,032 14,221

         Total deposits 15,163 15,055

Advances from borrowers for taxes and insurance 147 175

Other liabilities 114 107

        Total liabilities 15,424 15,337

Commitments and contingencies

       Stockholders' Equity

Preferred stock, $0.01 par value, 1,000,000 shares authorized, none issued and outstanding

Common stock, $0.01 par value, 19,000,000 shares authorized, 132,250 shares outstanding 1                     -                      

Additional paid-in capital 811                 -                      

Retained earnings - substantially restricted 759 1,051

Accumulated other comprehensive loss, net of taxes (2) (3)

        Total equity 1,569 1,048

        Total liabilities and stockholders' equity $ 16,993 $ 16,385

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

(In thousands)
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SIDNEY FEDERAL SAVINGS AND LOAN ASSOCIATION

Statements of Operations 

Years Ended December 31, 2018 and  

2018 2017

Interest income:

   Loans receivable $ 504 $ 543

   Securities-taxable 61 35

   Securities-nontaxable 12 12

   Other interest-earning assets 33 16

      Total interest income 610 606

Interest expense:

   Deposits 74 60

   Advances from FHLBT - 19

      Total interest expense 74 79

      Net interest income 536 527

Provision for loan losses - 4

      Net interest income after provision for loan losses 536 523

Noninterest income:

   Service charges on deposit accounts 13 13

   Gain on sale of loans 55           14

   Other 4 6

      Total noninterest income 72 33

Noninterest expense:

   Compensation and benefits 474 434

   Occupancy expense 23 25

   Equipment and data processing expense 118 140

   FDIC premium expense 17 13

   Professional and regulatory fees 143 63

   Insurance expense 25 24

   Debit card expense, net 21 26

   Correspondent bank service charges 12 12

   Other 67 59

      Total noninterest expense 900 796

      Loss before income taxes (292) (240)

Income taxes:

   Current - - 

   Deferred - - 

      Total income taxes - - 

      Net loss $ (292) $ (240)

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

(In thousands)
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SIDNEY FEDERAL SAVINGS AND LOAN ASSOCIATION

Statements of Comprehensive Loss 

Years Ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 

2018 2017

Net loss $ (292) $ (240)
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax:
 Reclassification adjustment for gains on securities available for sale
     included in operations -    -   
 Unrealized gains (losses) on securities available for sale during the year 1 (8)

 Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) before taxes 1 (8)
 Income tax benefit (expense) - 2
 Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax 1 (6)

Comprehensive loss $ (291) $ (246)

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

(In thousands)
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SIDNEY FEDERAL SAVINGS AND LOAN ASSOCIATION

Statements of Stockholders’ Equity            

Years Ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 

Accumulated
Additional Other

Common Paid In Retained Comprehensive Total
Stock Capital Earnings Income (Loss), Net Equity

   (In thousands)

Balance at December 31, 2016 $ - $ - $ 1,291 $ 3 $ 1,294

Net loss -        -      (240) - (240)

Other comprehensive loss, net of taxes -        -      -     (6) (6)

Balance at December 31, 2017 -        -      1,051 (3) 1,048

Net loss $ - $ - (292) - (292)

Proceeds from issuance of common stock 1        811  -     -       812

Other comprehensive income, net of taxes -        -      -         1      1

Balance at December 31, 2018 $ 1        $ 811  $ 759 $ (2) $ 1,569

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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SIDNEY FEDERAL SAVINGS AND LOAN ASSOCIATION 
 
 Statements of Cash Flows 
 
 Years Ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 
 
 

2018 2017

Cash flows from operating activities:

   Net loss $ (292) $ (240)

   Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash 

      used for operating activities:

         Depreciation expense 13 16

         Amortization of premiums, net 21 34

         FHLBT stock dividends (3) (3)

         Provision for loan losses -             4

         Gain on sale of loans (55)          (14)

         Gain from insurance claim on automobile -             (4)

         Loan originations for sale (2,249) (511)

         Proceeds from sale of loans 2,304 525

         Decrease (increase) in:

              Accrued interest receivable 1 2

              Other assets 77 (93)

         Increase (decrease) in other liabilities 6 40

            Net cash used for operating activities (177) (244)

Cash flows from investing activities:

   Net decrease (increase) in certificates of deposit 494 -               

   Net decrease (increase) in loans receivable 1,901 (691)

   Mortgage-backed securities ("MBSs") available for sale - collections 733 791

   MBSs available for sale purchases (3,642) -               

   MBSs available for sale - proceeds from sale -             742

   Redemption of FHLBT stock 5 30

   Proceeds from insurance claim on automobile -             8

   Purchases of premises and equipment (2) (12)

           Net cash provided by (used for) investing activities $ (511) $ 868

(Continued)

(In thousands)
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SIDNEY FEDERAL SAVINGS AND LOAN ASSOCIATION 
 
 Statements of Cash Flows 
 
 Years Ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 
 
(Continued)

2018 2017

Cash flows from financing activities:

   Net increase (decrease) in deposits $ 108 $ (414)

   Proceeds from advances from FHLBT -             1,200        

   Repayment of advances from FHLBT -             (2,200)

   Net increase (decrease) in advances from borrowers for taxes and insurance (28) 17

   Common stock issued net of cost 812         -               

         Net cash provided by (used for) financing activities 892 (1,397)

Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents 204 (773)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 594 1,367

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $ 798 $ 594

Cash paid during the year for:

   Interest on deposits $ 74 $ 60

   Interest on advances from FHLBT -             19

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

(In thousands)
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          Notes to Financial Statements 
 

December 31, 2018 and 2017 
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(1)  Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

   
The Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) is the 
source of authoritative accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America 
(“GAAP”).   
 
The following comprise the significant accounting policies, which the Association follows in preparing and 
presenting its financial statements: 
 

a. For purposes of reporting cash flows, cash and cash equivalents include cash, FHLBT demand 
account, FHLBT overnight deposit account and interest-bearing funds in other banks with original 
maturities of three months or less.  At December 31, 2018 and 2017, the Association’s funds in banks, 
exceeded federally insured limits by $603 and $397, respectively. The Association’s management 
monitors the account balance and periodically assesses the financial condition of its correspondent 
banks. 

b. Securities which the Association has the positive intent and ability to hold to maturity are classified as held 
to maturity and reported at cost, adjusted for amortization of premiums and accretion of discounts over the 
life of the security using the interest method.  Securities classified as available for sale are reported at fair 
value, with unrealized gains and losses excluded from operations and reported as a separate component 
of equity.  The Association does not purchase securities for trading purposes.  The cost of securities sold 
is determined by specific identification.   Declines in fair value of securities available for sale that are 
deemed to be other-than-temporary are charged to operations as a realized loss.  In estimating other-
than-temporary impairment losses, management of the Association considers the length of time and the 
extent to which the fair value has been less than cost, the financial condition and near-term prospects of 
the issuer, the Association's intent to sell the security or whether it is more likely than not that it will be 
required to sell the security before the anticipated recovery of its remaining amortized cost basis and 
evaluation of cash flows to determine if the securities have been adversely affected. 

Stock in FHLBT is recorded at cost, which represents redemption value.  The Association is required by 
law to own stock in the FHLBT as a condition of membership or for borrowings from the FHLBT.  FHLBT 
stock is evaluated for impairment in accordance with FASB ASC 942-325-35, “Financial Services - 
Depository and Lending – Investments - Other.”  Determination of whether the FHLBT stock is impaired 
is based on the assessment of the ultimate recoverability of cost rather than by recognizing declines in 
value.  The determination of whether a decline affects the ultimate recoverability of costs is influenced 
by the significance of the decline in net assets compared to the capital of the FHLBT and the length of 
time this situation has persisted; the ability of the FHLBT to make payments required by law or 
regulation and operating performance; the impact of legislative and regulatory changes on member 
institutions and customer base and the liquidity position of the FHLBT. Management believes that no 
impairment charge on FHLBT stock is necessary at December 31, 2018 or 2017.
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c. Loans receivable, net are carried at unpaid principal balances, less allowance for loan losses and net 
deferred loan fees.  Loan origination fees and certain direct loan origination costs are deferred and 
amortized to interest income over the contractual life of the loan using the interest method.     

d. Allowance for loan losses are established for impaired loans for the difference between the loan amount 
and the present value of expected future cash flows discounted at the original contractual interest rate, or 
as a practical expedient if the loan is deemed collateral dependent, the fair value of collateral less 
estimated selling costs.  The Association considers a loan to be impaired when, based on current 
information and events, it is probable that the Association will be unable to collect all amounts due 
according to the contractual terms of the loan agreement on a timely basis.  The types of loans for which 
impairment is measured under FASB ASC 310-10-35, “Receivables,” include nonaccrual real estate 
loans and troubled debt restructurings (“TDRs”), where concessions have been granted to borrowers 
experiencing financial difficulties.  These concessions could include a reduction in the interest rate on 
the loan, payment extensions, forgiveness of principal, forbearance or other actions intended to 
maximize collection.  Such loans are placed on nonaccrual status at the point deemed uncollectible.  
Impairment losses are recognized through an increase in the allowance for loan losses.  A loan is 
considered delinquent when a payment has not been made by the contractual due date.    
 
Allowances for loan losses are available to absorb losses incurred on loans receivable and represents 
additions charged to expense, less net charge-offs.  Loans are charged-off in the period deemed 
uncollectible.  Recoveries of loans previously charged-off are recorded when received.  The allowance for 
loan losses consists of specific and general components. The specific component relates to loans that 
are individually classified as impaired, for which the carrying value of the loan exceeds the fair value of 
the collateral or the present value of expected future cash flows, or loans otherwise adversely 
classified. The general component covers non-impaired loans and is based on the historical loan loss 
experience, including adjustments to historical loss experience maintained to cover uncertainties that 
affect the Association’s estimate of probable losses for each loan type.  The Association’s period of 
loan loss experience is three years for 2018 and 2017.  The adjustments to historical loss experience 
are based on evaluation of several factors, including primarily changes in lending policies and 
procedures; changes in collection, charge-off and recovery practices; changes in the nature and 
volume of the loan portfolio; changes in the volume and severity of nonperforming loans; the existence 
and effect of any concentrations of credit and changes in the level of such concentrations; and changes 
in current, national and local economic and business conditions. Management believes that all known 
and inherent losses in the loan portfolio that are probable and reasonable to estimate have been recorded 
as of each balance sheet date.  

  
 e. Premises and equipment, net are carried at cost, less accumulated depreciation.  Depreciation of 

premises and equipment is computed using the straight-line method based on the estimated useful lives 
of the related assets.  The office building has been fully depreciated. Estimated lives are generally three to 
five years for furniture and equipment. 

 
 f. Foreclosed real estate held for sale is carried at fair value less estimated costs to sell. Costs related to the 

development and improvement of foreclosed real estate are capitalized.   
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    g. Interest on certificates of deposit, securities and loans receivable is accrued as earned.  Interest on loans 

receivable is excluded from income when considered uncollectible.  When a loan is classified as 
nonaccrual, accrued interest is reversed against current income. Interest received on nonaccrual loans 
generally is applied against principal or interest and is recognized on the cash basis or cost recovery 
method.  Accrual of interest is resumed on previously classified nonaccrual loans, when there is no longer 
any reasonable doubt as to the timely collection of interest. 

 
 h. Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are computed for differences between the financial statement 

and tax bases of assets and liabilities which will result in taxable or deductible amounts in the future based 
on enacted tax laws and rates applicable to the periods in which the differences are expected to affect 
income.  Valuation allowances are established when necessary to reduce deferred tax assets to the 
amount that will more likely than not be realized.  Income tax expense is the tax payable or refundable for 
the period plus or minus the net change in the deferred tax assets and liabilities. 

 
The FASB issued guidance for how uncertain tax positions should be recognized, measured, disclosed 
and presented in the financial statements.  This guidance requires the evaluation of tax positions taken or 
expected to be taken in the course of preparing the Association’s Federal and state tax returns to 
determine whether the tax positions are “more-likely-than-not” of being sustained “when challenged” or 
“when examined” by the applicable tax authority.  Tax positions deemed to meet the more-likely-than-not 
threshold would be recorded as a tax benefit or expense in the current year.  Interest and penalties 
related to tax positions are recognized in income tax expense.  The Association is no longer subject to 
U.S. Federal or state income tax examination by tax authorities for the years ended on or before 
December 31, 2015.  For the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, management has determined 
there are no material uncertain tax positions. 
 

i. Service charges on deposit accounts include fees collected on nonsufficient funds, overdrafts, ATMs and 
other banking services. 

 
j. Earnings (loss) per share represents income (loss) available to common stockholders divided by the 

weighted-average number of common shares outstanding during each period.  Based on the accounting 
method used for the recording of the common stock transaction on July 26, 2018, the computation 
of loss per share for the twelve months ended December 31, 2018 would not provide meaningful 
information to readers of the accompanying condensed consolidated financial statements. 
Therefore, such presentation is not included for the periods presented.   

 
k.   Comprehensive loss consists of net loss and unrealized gains (losses) on available-for-sale securities. 

 
l. The Association is an “emerging growth company,” as defined in Section 2(a) of the Securities Act of 

1933 (the “Securities Act”), as modified by the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act of 2012 ( the 
“JOBS Act”).   

 
As an “emerging growth company,” the Association has elected to use the extended transition 
period to delay adoption of new or revised accounting pronouncements applicable to public 
companies until such pronouncements are made applicable to private companies. Accordingly, the
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financial statements of the Association may not be comparable to the financial statements of public 
companies that comply with such new or revised accounting standards. 

 
The impact of recent accounting pronouncements are summarized as follows:  
 
In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-09, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers.” The 
provisions of ASU 2014-09 requires an entity to recognize revenue that depicts the transfer of 
promised goods or services in an amount that reflects the consideration the entity expects to be 
entitled in exchange for those goods or services. In August 2015, ASU 2015-14 delayed the 
effective date for emerging growth companies to annual reporting periods beginning after 
December 15, 2018, and interim reporting periods within annual reporting periods beginning after 
December 15, 2019. The adoption of this ASU is not expected to have a material impact on the 
Association’s financial position and results of operations. 

 
In January 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-01, “Recognition and Measurement of Financial 
Assets and Financial Liabilities.” The provisions of ASU 2016-01 require certain equity investments 
to be measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognized in net income and simplify the 
impairment assessment of such investments; eliminate the requirement for public entities to 
disclose the methods and significant assumptions used to estimate fair value that is required to be 
disclosed for financial instruments measured at amortized cost; require public entities to use the 
exit price notion when measuring the fair value of financial instruments for disclosure purposes; 
clarify that an entity should evaluate the need for a valuation allowance on a deferred tax asset 
related to  available-for-sale securities in combination with the entity’s other deferred tax assets 
and require separate presentation of financial assets and financial liabilities by measurement 
category and form of financial asset on the balance sheet or in the accompanying notes to the 
financial statements. For emerging growth companies, ASU 2016-01 is effective for fiscal years 
beginning after December 15, 2018, and interim reporting periods within annual reporting periods 
beginning after  2016-01 is not expected to have a material impact on 
the Association’s financial statements. 
 
In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-02, “Leases (Topic 842).”  ASU 2016-02 was 
issued to increase transparency and comparability among entities by requiring lessees to 
recognize assets and liabilities on the balance sheet for the rights and obligations created by 
leases and disclosing key information about leasing arrangements.  ASU 2016-02 is effective for 
fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2019, and interim reporting periods within annual 
reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2020. The Association is currently evaluating the 
impact of ASU 2016- 02 on its financial statements.  

 
In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-13, “Financial Instruments-Credit Losses (Topic 
326).”  ASU 2016-13 was issued to provide financial statement users with more decision-useful 
information about the expected credit losses on financial instruments that are not accounted for at 
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fair value through net income, including loans held for investment, held-to-maturity debt securities, 
trade and other receivables, net investment in leases and other commitments to extend credit held 
by a reporting entity at each reporting date. ASU 2016-13 requires that financial assets measured 
at amortized cost be presented at the net amount expected to be collected, through an allowance 
for credit losses that is deducted from the amortized cost basis and reflect an entity’s current 
estimate of all expected credit losses. The measurement of expected credit losses is based upon 
historical experience, current conditions, and reasonable and supportable forecasts that affect the 
collectability of the financial assets. 

 
For purchased financial assets with a more-than-insignificant amount of credit  deterioration since 
origination (“PCD assets”) that are measured at amortized cost, the initial allowance for credit 
losses is added to the purchase price rather than being reported as a credit loss expense. 
Subsequent changes in the allowance for credit losses on PCD assets are recognized through the 
statement of income as a credit loss expense. 

   
Credit losses relating to available-for-sale debt securities will be recorded through an allowance for 
credit losses rather than as a direct write-down to the security. 

 
Since the Association plans to qualify as an emerging growth company, ASU 2016-13 effective for 
fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2020, and interim periods within fiscal years beginning 
after December 15, 2021. The Association is currently evaluating the impact of ASU 2016-13 on its 
financial statements.   
 
(2)  Nature of Operations and Risks and Uncertainties 
 
The Association is a community oriented financial institution that provides traditional financial services 
within its local market area.  The Association is engaged primarily in the business of attracting deposits 
from the general public and using these funds to originate one-to-four family residential mortgage loans 
primarily to customers located in Cheyenne County, Nebraska. 
 
On October 17, 2017, the Association’s Board of Directors adopted a Plan of Conversion to convert 
from a federally-chartered mutual savings association to a capital stock form of organization 
(“Conversion”). The transaction is subject to certain conditions, including the required regulatory 
approvals and approval of the Plan of Conversion by the Association.  

 
Shares of the Association’s common stock where offered in a subscription offering pursuant to non-
transferable subscription rights at a predetermined and uniform price in the following order of 
preference: (1) to eligible account holders of record of the Association as of September 30, 2016; (2) if 
applicable, to supplemental eligible account holders of record as of the last day of the calendar quarter 
preceding regulatory approval of the Conversion; and (3) any person other than an eligible account 
holder or a supplemental eligible account holder, holding a qualifying deposit on the voting record date 
and borrowers of the Association as of January 16, 2018 who maintained such borrowings as of the
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voting record date. Concurrently with the subscription offering, shares not subscribed for in the 
subscription offering were offered to the general public in a direct community offering with the 
preference given first to natural persons residing in the State of Nebraska; and thereafter to other 
member of the general public. The Conversion was completed on July 26, 2018 and resulted in the 
issuance of 132,250 shares of common stock by the Association. Conversion cost were $511.  As a 
result, net proceeds from sale of Association common stock was $812. 

 
Subsequent to the conversion, voting rights are held and exercised exclusively by the stockholders’ of 
the Association. Deposit account holders will continue to be insured by the FDIC. A liquidation account 
was established in an amount equal to the Association’s total equity as of the latest balance sheet date 
in the final offering circular used in the Conversion. Each eligible account holder or supplemental 
account holder will be entitled to a proportionate share of this account in the event of a complete 
liquidation of the Association, and only in such event. This share will be reduced if the eligible account 
holder’s or supplemental account holder’s deposit balance falls below the amounts on the date of 
record and will cease to exist if the account is closed. The liquidation account will never be increased 
despite any increase after Conversion in the related deposit balance.  

 
The Association may not pay a dividend on its capital stock, if the effect thereof would cause retained 
earnings to be reduced below the liquidation account amount or regulatory capital requirements. The 
Conversion was accounted for as a change in corporate form with the historic basis of the Association’s 
assets, liabilities and equity unchanged as a result.  

 
The financial statements have been prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America.  In preparing the financial statements, management is 
required to make estimates and assumptions, which affect the reported amounts of assets and 
liabilities as of the balance sheet dates and income and expenses for the periods covered.  Actual 
results could differ significantly from these estimates and assumptions. Material estimates that are 
particularly susceptible to significant change relate to the determination of the allowance for loan 
losses, fair value of financial instruments and deferred tax asset.  The Association's operations are 
affected by interest rate risk, credit risk, market risk and regulations by the Office of the Comptroller of 
the Currency (“OCC”).  The Association is subject to interest rate risk to the degree that its interest-
bearing liabilities mature or reprice more rapidly, or on a different basis, than its interest-earning assets. 
The Association uses a net market value methodology provided by an independent consultant to 
measure its interest rate risk exposure.  This exposure is a measure of the potential decline in the net 
portfolio value of the Association based upon the effect of a rate shock of plus or minus 50 and 100 
basis points.  Net portfolio value is the present value of expected net cash flows from the institution's 
assets, liabilities and off-balance sheet contracts. 

 
Credit risk is the risk of default on the Association's loan portfolio that results from the borrower’s    
inability or unwillingness to make contractually required payments.  

 
Market risk reflects changes in the market value of investment securities, the value of collateral 
underlying loans receivable and the valuation of real estate held by the Association.  The Association is 
subject to periodic examination by its primary regulatory agency, which may require the Association to 
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record an increase in the allowance for loss on loans receivable, based on judgments regarding the 
loan portfolio information available at the time of its examination.  The regulatory agency is not, 
however, directly involved in the determination of the allowance for loan losses, and any decisions to 
increase or decrease the allowance for loan losses are the responsibility of the Association’s 
management.



          SIDNEY FEDERAL SAVINGS AND LOAN ASSOCIATION 
 
          Notes to Financial Statements 
 

December 31, 2018 and 2017 
(Dollars in thousands) 

F-16 

 
(3)  Securities Available for Sale  
 
Securities available for sale are summarized as follows: 

         

Gross Gross 
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Market

Cost Gains Losses Value

Debt securities:
   MBS: Government-sponsored

enterprise ("GSE") residential $ 4,740 $ 27              (32)            4,735
   Collateralized mortgage obligations 18 -                 (1)              17
   SBA pools  72 -                 -                72
   Municipal obligations maturing in 2022 248 3 -                251
           Total $ 5,078 $ 30 $ (33) $ 5,075

Gross Gross 
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Market

Cost Gains Losses Value

Debt securities:
   MBS: Government-sponsored

enterprise ("GSE") residential $ 1,808 $ 12              (20)            1,800
   Collateralized mortgage obligations 32 -                 (1)              31
   SBA pools  102 2                -                104
   Municipal obligations maturing in 2022 247 4 -                251
           Total $ 2,189 $ 18 $ (21) $ 2,186

2018

2017

(In thousands)

(In thousands)

       
      

                        See note 7 for securities pledged for FHLBT advances. 
  

   For the year ended 2018, there were no sales of securities available for sale.  For the year ended 
December 31, 2017, proceeds from sale of securities available for sale, gross realized gains and losses 
were $742, $7 and $7, respectively.  
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Securities having a continuous unrealized loss position for less than twelve months and twelve months or 
longer at December 31, 2018 and 2017 are summarized as follows: 

 
Number                    Less than 12 Months                             12 Months or Longer                          Total

December 31, of Market Unrealized Market Unrealized Market Unrealized

2018 Positions Value loss Value loss Value loss

MBS 29 $ 1,759 $ 15              $ 837 $ 17 $ 2,596 $ 32

CMOs 1              -              -                 17          1                17 1

30 $ 1,759 $ 15              $ 854 $ 18 $ 2,613 $ 33

Number                    Less than 12 Months                              12 Months or Longer                          Total

December 31, of Market Unrealized Market Unrealized Market Unrealized

2017 Positions Value loss Value loss Value loss

MBS 25 $ 63 $ -                 $ 1,107 $ 20 $ 1,170 $ 20

CMOs 2 -              -                 31 1 31 1

27 $ 63 $ -                 $ 1,138 $ 21 $ 1,201 $ 21

(Dollars in thousands)

(Dollars in thousands)

 
The unrealized losses on the securities were due to changes in market interest rates and not the credit 
quality of the issuer.  The Association did not consider the unrealized losses on those securities to be 
other-than-temporarily impaired credit related losses at the above dates. Total fair value of these 
securities at December 31, 2018 and 2017, was $2,613 and $1,201, respectively, which is 
approximately 51% and 55%, respectively, of the Association’s available for sale securities portfolio.  
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(4)  Loans Receivable, Net 
 
Loans receivable, net are summarized as follows: 

2018 2017

Real estate loans:

   One-to-four family, owner occupied $ 9,483 $ 11,177

   One-to-four family, non-owner occupied 963 1,139

   Commercial 235 278

Consumer loans 256 255

10,937 12,849

Allowance for losses (122) (122)

Deferred loan fees, net (38) (49)

   Total $ 10,777 $ 12,678

(In thousands)

                
The risk characteristics of each loan portfolio segment are as follows: 

One-to-four family, owner occupied 
 
One-to-four family loans are underwritten based on the applicant’s employment and credit history and 
the appraised value of the property.  Repayment of these loans is primarily dependent on the personal 
income of the borrowers, which can be impacted by economic conditions in their market areas, such as 
unemployment levels.  Repayment can also be impacted by changes in property values on residential 
properties.  Risk is mitigated by the fact that the loans are of smaller individual amounts and spread 
over a large number of borrowers.  

 
One-to-four family, non-owner occupied 

 
One-to-four family, non-owner occupied loans carry greater inherent risks than one-to-four family, 
owner occupied loans, since the repayment ability of the borrower is generally reliant on the success of 
the income generated from the property.  

 
Commercial real estate 

 
Commercial real estate loans are secured primarily by various income-producing properties. 
Commercial real estate loans are underwritten based on the economic viability of the property and 
creditworthiness of the borrower, with emphasis given to projected cash flow as a percentage of debt 
service requirements.  These loans carry increased risks as they involve larger balances concentrated 
with single borrowers or groups of related borrowers. Repayment of loans secured by income-
producing properties depends on the successful operation of the real estate and the economy. 
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Consumer 

 
Consumer loans include automobile and other consumer loans. Potential credit risks include rapidly 
depreciable assets, such as automobiles, which could adversely affect the value of the collateral. 
 
The following presents by portfolio segment, the activity in the allowance for loan losses:  
 

Beginning Provision for Ending
Balance Losses Charge-offs Recoveries Balance

Year Ended December 31, 2018:
Real estate loans:
   One-to-four family, owner occupied $ 104 $ -                $ -              $ -              $ 104
   One-to-four family, non-owner occupied 12 -                -              -              12
   Commercial 3 -                -              -              3                      
Consumer loans 3 -                -              -              3

$ 122 $ -                $ -              $ -              $ 122

Beginning Provision for Ending
Balance Losses Charge-offs Recoveries Balance

Year Ended December 31, 2017:
Real estate loans:
   One-to-four family, owner occupied $ 100 $ 4 $ -              $ -              $ 104
   One-to-four family, non-owner occupied 12 -                -              -              12
   Commercial 3 -                -              -              3                      
Consumer loans 3 -                -              -              3

$ 118 $ 4 $ -              $ -              $ 122

Allowance for Loan Losses

Allowance for Loan Losses

(In thousands)

(In thousands)
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The following presents by portfolio segment, the recorded investment in loans and impairment method: 

 

Individually Collectively Individually Collectively
Evaluated Evaluated Evaluated Evaluated

for Impairment for Impairment Total for Impairment for Impairment Total
At December 31, 2018:
Real estate loans:
   One-to-four family, owner occupied $ -             $ 104            $ 104 $ 65            $ 9,418                $ 9,483               
   One-to-four family, non-owner occupied -             12             12            -              963                   963                  
   Commercial -             3               3             -              235                   235                  
Consumer loans -             3               3             -              256                   256                  

$ -             $ 122            $ 122 $ 65            $ 10,872              $ 10,937              

Individually Collectively Individually Collectively
Evaluated Evaluated Evaluated Evaluated

for Impairment for Impairment Total for Impairment for Impairment Total
At December 31, 2017:
Real estate loans:
   One-to-four family, owner occupied $ -             $ 104            $ 104          $ 68            $ 11,109              $ 11,177              
   One-to-four family, non-owner occupied -             12             12            -              1,139                1,139               
   Commercial -             3               3             -              278                   278                  
Consumer loans -             3               3             -              255                   255                  

$ -             $ 122            $ 122          $ 68            $ 12,781              $ 12,849              

LoansAllowance for Loan Losses

Allowance for Loan Losses Loans

(In thousands)

(In thousands)
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The following tables present impaired loans and allowance for loan losses and nonperforming loans 
based on class level: 

With With no
Allowance Allowance Unpaid Allowance Average
for Loan for Loan Principal for Loan Recorded
Losses Losses Total Balance Losses Investment

At December 31, 2018:
Real estate loans:
   One-to-four family, owner occupied $ -             $ 65 $ 65 $ 65            $ - $ 67                    
   One-to-four family, non-owner occupied -             -                -              -              - -                      
   Commercial -             -                - - - -
Consumer loans -             -                - - - -

$ - $ 65 $ 65            $ 65            $ - $ 67

Impaired Loans

(In thousands)

Past Due 90 Accruing
Days and More Troubled Debt

Nonaccrual Still Accruing Restructurings Total
At December 31, 2018:
Real estate loans:
   One-to-four family, owner occupied $ 65            $ - $ - $ 65                    
   One-to-four family, non-owner occupied - - - -
   Commercial - - - -
Consumer loans 1             - - 1                      

$ 66            $ -              $ -                       $ 66                    

With With no
Allowance Allowance Unpaid Allowance Average
for Loan for Loan Principal for Loan Recorded
Losses Losses Total Balance Losses Investment

At December 31, 2017:
Real estate loans:
   One-to-four family, owner occupied $ -             $ 68             $ 68            $ 68            $ -                       $ 61                    
   One-to-four family, non-owner occupied -             -                -              -              -                       -                      
   Commercial -             -                -              -              -                       -                      
Consumer loans -             -                -              -              -                       -                      

$ -             $ 68             $ 68            $ 68            $ -                       $ 61                    

Past Due 90 Accruing
Days and More Troubled Debt

Nonaccrual Still Accruing Restructurings Total
At December 31, 2017:
Real estate loans:
   One-to-four family, owner occupied $ 68 $ 17            $ -                       $ 85
   One-to-four family, non-owner occupied -              -              -                       -                      
   Commercial -              -              -                       -                      
Consumer loans -              -              -                       -                      

$ 68 $ 17            $ -                       $ 85

(In thousands)

Nonperforming Loans

(In thousands)

(In thousands)

Nonperforming Loans

Impaired Loans
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Interest income recognized on impaired loans for the year ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 was $4 
and $4, respectively. 
 
There were no loans modified as troubled debt restructurings during 2018 or 2017. 
 
The Association does not have any commitments to lend additional funds to borrowers whose loans are 
on nonaccrual. 
 
At December 31, 2018 and 2017, there were no residential real estate loans in the process of 
foreclosure.   

 
The following table presents the Association’s loan portfolio aging analysis: 

The Association classifies loans into risk categories based on relevant information about the ability of 
borrowers to service their debt such as:  current financial information, historical payment experience, 
credit documentation, public information, and current economic trends, among other factors. Generally, 
smaller dollar consumer loans are excluded from this process and are reflected in the Pass category.  
The delinquency trends of these consumer loans are monitored on a homogeneous basis. 

   
The Association uses the following definitions for risk ratings: 

The Pass asset quality rating encompasses assets that have generally performed as expected. With 
the exception of some smaller consumer and residential loans, these assets generally do not have 
delinquency.  Loans assigned this rating include loans to borrowers possessing solid credit quality with 
acceptable risk.  

30-59 60-89 90 or more Current Total
At December 31, 2018:
Real estate loans:
   One-to-four family, owner occupied $ -                $ 56            $ 65            $ 9,362                $ 9,483               
   One-to-four family, non-owner occupied -                -              -              963                   963                  
   Commercial -                -              -              235                   235                  
Consumer loans 10             -              1             245                   256                  

$ 10             $ 56            $ 66            $ 10,805              $ 10,937              

30-59 60-89 90 or more Current Total
At December 31, 2017:
Real estate loans:
   One-to-four family, owner occupied $ 115            $ -              $ 85            $ 10,977              $ 11,177              
   One-to-four family, non-owner occupied -                -              -              1,139                1,139               
   Commercial -                -              -              278                   278                  
Consumer loans 10             -              -              245                   255                  

$ 125            $ -              $ 85            $ 12,639              $ 12,849              

Days Past Due

(In thousands)

(In thousands)

Days Past Due
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The Special Mention asset quality rating encompasses assets that have potential weaknesses that 
deserve management’s close attention.  If left uncorrected, these potential weaknesses may result in 
deterioration of the repayment prospects for the loan.  Special mention assets are not adversely 
classified and do not expose an institution to sufficient risk to warrant adverse classification. This grade 
is intended to include loans to borrowers whose credit quality has clearly deteriorated and where risk of 
further decline is possible unless active measures are taken to correct the situation. 

The Substandard asset quality rating encompasses assets that are inadequately protected by the 
current net worth and paying capacity of the obligor or of the collateral pledged, if any; assets having a 
well-defined weakness based upon objective evidence; assets characterized by the distinct possibility 
that the Association will sustain some loss if the deficiencies are not corrected; or the possibility that 
liquidation will not be timely. Loans categorized in this grade possess a well-defined credit weakness 
and the likelihood of repayment from the primary source is uncertain.  Significant financial deterioration 
has occurred and very close attention is warranted to ensure the full repayment without loss.  Collateral 
coverage may be marginal. 

Doubtful asset quality rating encompasses assets that have all of the weaknesses of those classified as 
substandard.  In addition, these weaknesses make collection or liquidation in full, on the basis of 
currently existing facts, conditions and values, highly questionable and improbable. 

The Loss asset quality rating encompasses assets that are considered uncollectible and of such little 
value that their continuance as assets is not warranted.  A loss classification does not mean that an 
asset has no recovery or salvage value; instead, it means that it is not practical or desirable to defer 
writing off or reserving all or a portion of a basically worthless asset, even though partial recovery may 
be realized in the future. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 



          SIDNEY FEDERAL SAVINGS AND LOAN ASSOCIATION 
 
          Notes to Financial Statements 
 

December 31, 2018 and 2017 
(Dollars in thousands) 

F-24 

 
The following tables present the credit risk profile of the Association’s loan portfolio based on 
rating.

Special
Mention Substandard Doubtful Loss Pass Total

At December 31, 2018:
Real estate loans:
   One-to-four family, owner occupied $ -             $ 65             $ -              $ -              $ 9,418                $ 9,483               
   One-to-four family, non-owner occupied -             -                -              -              963                   963                  
   Commercial -             -                -              -              235                   235                  
Consumer loans -             1               -              -              255                   256                  

$ -             $ 66             $ - $ - $ 10,871              $ 10,937              

Special
Mention Substandard Doubtful Loss Pass Total

At December 31, 2017:
Real estate loans:
   One-to-four family, owner occupied $ -             $ 85             $ -              $ -              $ 11,092              $ 11,177              
   One-to-four family, non-owner occupied -             -                -              -              1,139                1,139               
   Commercial -             -                -              -              278                   278                  
Consumer loans -             -                -              -              255                   255                  

$ -             $ 85             $ - $ - $ 12,764              $ 12,849              

(In thousands)

(In thousands)

Credit Quality Indicator-Credit Risk Profile by Grade or Classification

Credit Quality Indicator-Credit Risk Profile by Grade or Classification

 
 

There were no loans to executive officers, directors and their affiliates of the Association for the years 
ended December 31, 2018 and 2017. 

 
(5)  Premises and Equipment, Net 

 
Premises and equipment, net are summarized as follows: 
 

                   

2018 2017

Land $ 30 $ 30
Office building 395 395
Furniture and equipment 150 147

575 572
Less accumulated depreciation 531 517

$ 44 $ 55

(In thousands)

 
Depreciation expense for 2018 and 2017 was $13 and $16, respectively. 
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(6)  Deposits 
 
Deposits are summarized as follows: 

 

      Description and interest rate 2018 2017

Non-interest bearing checking accounts $ 1,131 $ 834
Interest bearing checking accounts 1,963 2,004
Savings accounts 4,902 4,662
Money market accounts 545 698
    Total transaction accounts 8,541 8,198
Certificates:
    .00 -   .99%   3,148 4,025
  1.00 - 1.99% 2,287 2,057
  2.00 - 2.99% 1,187 775
    Total certificates 6,622 6,857
        Total deposits $ 15,163 $ 15,055

(In thousands)

 
Certificate maturities are summarized as follows:

2018 2017

Less than one year $ 4,787 $ 4,615
One to two years 794 1,440
Two to three years 977 564
Three to four years 64 238
Four to five years -                   -                  

$ 6,622 $ 6,857

(In thousands)

 
The aggregate amount of certificates in denominations of $250 or more at December 31, 2018 and 
2017 was $308 and $300, respectively.  There were no brokered deposits at December 31, 2018 or 
2017. Under the Federal Deposit Insurance Act and the FDIC’s implementing regulations, $250 is the 
standard maximum deposit insurance amount for deposits in an insured depository institution that are 
maintained in the same ownership right and capacity.  Deposits maintained in different rights and 
capacities are insured separately from each other. 
 
Deposits from executive officers, directors and affiliates held by the Association were $136 and $108 at 
December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively. 
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Interest expense on deposits is summarized as follows: 

          

2018 2017

Checking and money market accounts $ 2                  $ 3                 
Savings accounts 6 4
Certificates 66 53

$ 74 $ 60

(In thousands)

 

 7)  Advances from Federal Home Loan Bank of Topeka 
 
At December 31, 2018 and 2017, the Association had no outstanding advances from the Federal Home 
Loan Bank of Topeka.  
 
The Association had remaining credit available under the FHLB advance program of $8,090 and 
$9,537 at December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively. 

 
At December 31, 2018, the Association had a blanket lien on certain loans totaling $9,984, with 
advance equivalents of $8,087 and securities of $138 that can be utilized to secure future advances.   
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(8)  Income Taxes 

 
Net deferred tax asset (liability) is summarized as follows:  

2018 2017

Deferred tax assets:
   Allowance for losses on loans $ 28             $ 28             
   Net operating loss carryforward 394           331           
   Book over tax depreciation  -                1               
   Charitable contribution carryover 2               2               
   Unrealized loss on securities available for sale -                1               
      Total deferred tax assets before valuation allowance 424 363
      Valuation allowance (405) (344)
      Total deferred tax assets 19 19
Deferred tax liabilities:
   Accrued income and expense (19) (18)
      Total deferred tax liabilities (19)            (18)            
      Net deferred tax asset (liability) $ -                $ 1               

(In thousands)

On December 22, 2017, the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act was enacted into law, and includes among       
other items, a reduction in the federal corporate income tax structure to a flat rate of 21%,            
effective January 1, 2018.  As a result, the Bank’s net deferred tax asset at December 31, 2017 was 
remeasured at the new tax rate.    

 
Change in valuation allowance for deferred tax asset is summarized as follows: 

     
2018 2016

Valuation allowance:
     Balance, beginning of year $ 344 $ 472
     Net change in valuation allowance 61 (128)
     Balance, end of year $ 405 $ 344

(In thousands)

 
    

At December 31, 2018, the Association has a net operating loss carryforward for Federal income tax 
purposes of $1,874, a portion of which is will begin expiring in 2029, is available to offset future Federal 
taxable income.
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In assessing the realizability of deferred tax assets, management considers whether it is more likely than 
not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized.  Management considers the 
scheduled reversal of deferred tax liabilities, projected future taxable income, and tax planning strategies 
in making this assessment. At December 31, 2018 and 2017, a valuation allowance has been recorded 
against all components of the deferred tax inventory, except for the unrealized gain or loss on available for 
sale securities, based upon the Association’s cumulative operating losses in recent years.   
 
 
A reconciliation of income tax expense at the statutory federal corporate tax rate to the Association’s 
actual income tax expense is as follows: 

 
2018 2017

Federal statutory income taxes $ (61) $ (81)
     Change in valuation allowance in operations 61 (128)
     Deferred tax expense on rate change -                213
     Other 2 -                
     Tax-exempt income (2) (4)
        Actual deferred Federal tax expense $ -                $ -                

Effective tax rate 0.0% 0.0%

(In thousands)

 
There was no current Federal tax expense or state tax expense for 2018 or 2017. 

 
The Association is permitted to make additions to the tax bad debt reserve using the experience method. 
The Association's retained earnings include tax bad debt reserves of $133 for which no provision for 
Federal income taxes has been made. 

 
The estimated deferred tax liability on such amount is approximately $28 which has not been recorded in 
the accompanying financial statements.  If these tax bad debt reserves are used for other than loan 
losses, the amount used will be subject to Federal income taxes at the then prevailing corporate rate. 

 
(9)  Employee Benefits     

 
The Association has a 401(k) plan which covers substantially all employees.  Participants may 
contribute to the 401(k) plan, subject to Internal Revenue Code limitations. The Association contributes 
on a discretionary basis.  There are no employer matching contributions. Participants vest on a graded 
basis and are fully vested after six years of service. 401(k) plan expense for the year ended December 
31, 2018 and 2017 was $3 and $3, respectively. 
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10)  Equity and Regulatory Capital 

 
The Association is subject to various regulatory capital requirements administered by the Federal banking 
agencies.  Failure to meet minimum capital requirements can result in certain mandatory and possibly 
additional discretionary actions by regulators that, if undertaken, could have a direct material effect on the 
Association's financial statements.  Under capital adequacy guidelines, the Association must meet 
specific guidelines that involve quantitative measures of assets, liabilities, and certain off-balance sheet 
items as calculated under regulatory accounting practices.   

 
Minimum capital level requirements applicable to the Association are: (i) a common equity Tier 1 capital 
ratio of 4.5%; (ii) a Tier 1 capital to risk-weighted assets ratio of 6% (iii) a total capital to risk-weighted 
assets ratio of 8% and (iv) a Tier 1 leverage ratio of 4%. The rules also establish a “capital conservation 
buffer” of 2.5% above the regulatory minimum capital ratios, and resulting in the following ratios: (i) a 
common equity Tier 1 capital ratio of 7.0%, (ii) a Tier 1 capital to risk-weighted assets ratio of 8.5%; (iii) 
a total capital to risk-weighted assets ratio of 10.5%; and, a Tier 1 leverage ratio of 6.5%. The new 
capital conservation buffer requirement was phased in beginning in January 2016 at 0.625% of risk-
weighted assets and will increase each year until fully implemented in January 2019. An institution will 
be subject to further limitations on paying dividends, engaging in share repurchases, and paying 
discretionary bonuses if its capital level falls below the buffer amount. These limitations will establish a 
maximum percentage of eligible retained income that could be utilized for such actions. 

 
The Association's capital amounts and classifications are also subject to judgments by the regulators 
about components, risk-weightings and other factors.  At December 31, 2018 and 2017, the Association 
believes all capital adequacy requirements were met. 

 
The Association is also subject to the regulatory framework for prompt corrective action.  On July 20, 
2017, the OCC established minimum capital ratios that are higher than existing banking regulations.  The 
Association is required to achieve and maintain a higher Tier 1 leverage capital ratio at December 31, 
2017, June 30, 2018 and December 31, 2018 of 7.5%, 8.0% and 8.5%, respectively, and a total risk-
based capital ratio of 12.0%.  The requirements to have and maintain specific capital levels prevent the 
Association from being classified as well-capitalized.  Accordingly, the Association was categorized as 
adequately capitalized under the regulatory framework for prompt corrective action at December 31, 2017. 
 As summarized in the following table at December 31, 2018, the Association’s reported Tier 1 leverage 
capital ratio of 9.2% is  more than the higher imposed capital requirement of 8.5%, while the total risk-
based capital ratio of 17.3% exceeds the higher imposed capital requirement of 12.0%.  
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The Association's actual and required capital amounts and ratios at December 31, 2018 are as follows: 

 

Amount Ratio Amount Ratio Amount Ratio

Equity $ 1,569
Unrealized loss on securities AFS, net 2
Tangible capital 1,571
General valuation allowance - limited 122

Total capital to risk-weighted assets $ 1,693 17.3% $ 781 8.0% $ 976 10.0%

 
Tier 1 capital to risk-weighted assets $ 1,571 16.1% $ 586 6.0% $ 781 8.0%

Common equity Tier 1 capital to 
   risk-weighted assets $ 1,571 16.1% $ 439 4.5% $ 634 6.5%

Tier 1 capital to total assets $ 1,571 9.2% $ 680 4.0% $ 850 5.0%

            Minimum 
to be "Well

(Dollars in Thousands)

Capitalized"AdequacyActual
for Capital

Required

 
The general valuation allowance is limited to 1.25% of risk-weighted assets.  
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The Association's actual and required capital amounts and ratios at December 31, 2017 are as follows: 

Amount Ratio Amount Ratio Amount Ratio

Equity $ 1,048
Unrealized loss on securities AFS, net 3
Tangible capital 1,051
General valuation allowance - limited 94

Total capital to risk-weighted assets $ 1,145 15.2% $ 603 8.0% $ 754 10.0%

 
Tier 1 capital to risk-weighted assets $ 1,051 13.9% $ 453 6.0% $ 603 8.0%

Common equity Tier 1 capital to 
   risk-weighted assets $ 1,051 13.9% $ 339 4.5% $ 490 6.5%

Tier 1 capital to total assets $ 1,051 6.6% $ 641 4.0% $ 802 5.0%

Actual Adequacy Capitalized"

(Dollars in Thousands)

            Minimum Required
for Capital to be "Well

 
 

(11)  Financial Instruments with Off-Balance Sheet Risk 
 

The Association is a party to financial instruments with off-balance sheet risk in the normal course of 
business to meet the financing needs of its customers.  These financial instruments generally include 
commitments to originate mortgage loans.  Those instruments involve, to varying degrees, elements of 
credit and interest rate risk in excess of the amount recognized in the balance sheet.  The maximum 
exposure to credit loss in the event of nonperformance by the borrower is represented by the contractual 
amount and related accrued interest receivable of those instruments. 
 
The Association minimizes this risk by evaluating each borrower's creditworthiness on a case-by-case 
basis. Collateral held by the Association consists of a first or second mortgage on the borrower's property. 
 The amount of collateral obtained is based upon an appraisal of the property.   

 
Commitments to originate mortgage loans are legally binding agreements to lend to the Association's 
customers. Commitments at December 31, 2018 and 2017 to originate fixed-rate loans were $323 and 
$302, respectively. Interest rates for such loans ranged from 4.25% to 15.00% and 4.25% to 15.00% at 
December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively.  
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The Association sells fixed-rate single-family, residential loans with servicing released to the FHLB of 
Topeka under primarily the Mortgage Partnership Finance (“MPF”) Original program.  Under the MPF 
Original program, any loan losses due to default are shared by the FHLB and the Association, which 
provides a credit enhancement recourse obligation.  At December 31, 2018 and 2017, the outstanding 
balance of loans sold under the MPF Original program was $1,971 and $110 respectively, and the 
maximum credit enhancement obligation was $135 and $18, respectfully.  The breach of any 
representation or warranty related to the loans sold under the MPF Original program could increase the 
losses associated with such loans.  
 
In order to determine whether any loss exposure exists under the MPF Original program, the 
Association considers the FHLB loss sharing obligation, borrower equity, any private mortgage 
insurance, delinquency status, if any, and other credit risk factors.  As a result of this evaluation, no 
recourse loss liability was recorded as of December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017. 

 
(12)  Fair Value Measurements and Fair Value of Financial Instruments 

Fair Value Measurements  

The fair value hierarchy prioritizes the assumptions that market participants would use in pricing the 
assets or liabilities (the “inputs”) into three broad levels.   

The fair value hierarchy gives the highest priority (Level 1) to quoted prices in active markets for identical 
assets and liabilities and the lowest priority (Level 3) to unobservable inputs in which little, if any, market 
activity exists, requiring entities to develop their own assumptions and data.  

 
Level 2 inputs are inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset 
or liability, either directly or indirectly.  These inputs include quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in 
active markets, quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in market areas that are not active, 
inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability (such as interest rates, 
volatilities, prepayment speeds, credit risks and default rates) or inputs that are derived principally from or 
corroborated by observable market data by correlation or other means.   
 
Valuation Techniques 
 
Available for sale securities are carried at fair value utilizing Level 1 and Level 2 inputs.  For debt 
securities, the Association obtains fair value measurements from an independent pricing service. Debt 
securities include MBSs, CMOs, SBA pools and municipal obligations.  The fair value measurements 
consider observable data that may include dealer quotes, live trading levels, trade execution data, cash 
flows, market consensus prepayment speeds, market spreads, credit information and the U.S. Treasury 
yield curve.  

 
Impaired loans are carried at fair value utilizing Level 3 inputs, consisting of appraisals of underlying 
collateral (collateral method) adjusted for selling costs (unobservable input), which generally 
approximate 6% of the sales prices and discounted cash flow analysis. See note 4. 
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Measured at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis 

 
The following table summarizes financial assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis at December 
31, 2018 and 2017, segregated by the level of the inputs within the hierarchy used to measure fair value:  

        

Total
 Assets Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Fair Value

December 31, 2018:
MBS: GSE residential $ -                    $ 4,735           $ -                  $ 4,735         
Collateralized mortgage obligations -                    17                -                  17              
SBA pools -                    72                -                  72              
Municipals -                    251              -                  251            

$ -                    $ 5,075           $ -                  $ 5,075         

December 31, 2017:
MBS: GSE residential $ -                    $ 1,800           $ -                  $ 1,800
Collateralized mortgage obligations -                    31                -                  31
SBA pools -                    104              -                  104
Municipals -                    251              -                  251

$ -                    $ 2,186 $ -                  $ 2,186

(In thousands)

 
There were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 categorizations for the years presented. 

 
Assets Measured at Fair Value on a Nonrecurring Basis 

 
Assets measured at fair value on a non-recurring basis include impaired loans.  At December 31, 2018 
and 2017, impaired loans of $0 and $0, respectively, were adjusted to fair value utilizing Level 3 inputs 
during such years. The impaired loans are collateral dependent.  Fair value adjustments, consisting of 
charge-offs, on impaired loans during the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 amounted to $0 and 
$0, respectively. 
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Fair Value of Financial Instruments 
 
Fair values of financial instruments have been estimated by the Association based on available market 
information with the assistance of an independent consultant:  
 

       

Carrying Fair

Amount Value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

December 31, 2018:

     Cash and cash equivalents $ 798 $ 798 $ 798 $ - $ -

     Stock in FHLBT and MIB 97 97 - 97 -

     Loans receivable, net 10,777 10,806 - - 10,806

     Accrued interest receivable 47 47 - 47 -

     Deposits 15,163 15,068 8,541 6,527 -

December 31, 2017:

     Cash and cash equivalents $ 594 $ 594 $ 594 $ - $ -

     Certificates of deposit 494 494 - 494 -

     Stock in FHLBT and MIB 99 99 - 99 -

     Loans receivable, net 12,678 12,191 - - 13,000

     Accrued interest receivable 47 47 - 47 -

     Deposits 15,055 15,356 8,198 7,158 -

Fair Value Measurements Using

(In thousands)

 
 

The following methods and assumptions were used in estimating the fair values shown above: 
 
 Cash and cash equivalents and certificates of deposit are valued at their carrying amounts due to 

the relatively short period to maturity of the instruments.  
 Stock in FHLBT and MIB is valued at cost, which represents redemption value and approximates 

fair value. 
 Fair values are computed for each loan category using interest rates currently being offered for 

loans with similar terms to borrowers of similar credit quality. 
 The carrying amounts of accrued interest receivable and accrued interest payable approximate fair 

value.  
 Deposits with no defined maturities, such as checking accounts, savings accounts and money 

market deposit accounts are, by definition, equal to the amount payable on demand at the balance 
sheet date.  Advances from the FHLBT, are valued at current market interest rates of FHLBT 
advances. 

 The fair values of certificate accounts are computed using interest rates currently being offered 
to deposit customers.  
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Off-balance sheet assets include the commitments to extend credit for which fair values were estimated 
based on interest rates and fees currently charged for similar transactions.  Due to the short-term nature 
of the outstanding commitments, the fair values of fees on those commitments approximates the amount 
collected and the Association’s has not assigned a value to such instruments for purposes of this 
disclosure.  

The methods and assumptions used in estimating fair values for investment securities are indicated above 
under the caption, “Valuation Techniques.”  

(13)  Other Noninterest Expense 
 
Other noninterest expense in the Statements of Operations is summarized as follows:  

                       

2018 2017

Contract services $ 10 $ 10

Advertising 10 6

Office supplies 8 8

Telephone expense 7 7

Dues and subscriptions 13 13

Other 19 15

$ 67 $ 59

(In thousands)

 
(14)  Contingencies 

     
The Association is involved in certain legal actions arising from normal business activities. Management 
believes that the outcome of such proceedings will not have any material adverse effect on the financial 
statements of the Association. 

(15)  Regulatory Agreement  
 
On June 7, 2017, the Association entered into a Memorandum of Understanding (“MOU”) with the OCC.  
Under the MOU, the Association agreed to develop and implement a three-year strategic and capital plan; 
improve its interest rate risk position and limit asset and liability concentrations.  The Board of Directors 
and management are currently taking action to comply with the MOU. 



SIGNATURES 

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 
1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, 
thereunto duly authorized. 

SIDNEY FEDERAL SAVINGS AND LOAN
ASSOCIATION 

Date: April 12, 2019 By: /s/ Steve Smith 
Steve Smith 
President, Chief Executive Officer, Interim Chief 
Financial Officer and Director 
(Duly Authorized Representative) 

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange of 1934, this report has been 
signed below by the following persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities and on 
the dates indicated. 

Signatures Title Date 

/s/ Steve Smith 
Steve Smith 

President, Chief Executive Officer, 
Interim Chief Financial Officer and 
Director (Principal Executive, 
Financial and Accounting Officer) 

April 12, 2019 

/s/ Jeff J. Jung 
Jeff J. Jung 

Chairman April 12, 2019 

/s/ Larry Fraas 
Larry Fraas 

Director April 12, 2019 

/s/ Wayne Fischer 
Wayne Fischer 

Director April 12, 2019 

/s/ Harold Perkins 
Harold Perkins 

Director April 12, 2019 

/s/ Bill Sydow 
Bill Sydow 

Director April 12, 2019 



EXHIBIT 21 

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE REGISTRANT 

Sidney Federal Savings and Loan Association does not have any subsidiaries. 



Exhibit 31.1 

Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002 

I, Steve Smith, certify that: 

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Sidney Federal Savings and Loan Association;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state
a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such
statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report,
fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the
registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure
controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and
have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and
procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the
registrant is made known to us by others within the entity, particularly during the period in which
this report is being prepared;

b) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in
this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of
the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

c) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that
occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal
control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board
of directors:

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control
over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to
record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a
significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: April 12, 2019 /s/ Steve Smith 
Steve Smith 
President, Chief Executive Officer and Interim Chief 
Financial Officer 



Exhibit 32 

Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer 
Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 

Steve Smith, President, Chief Executive Officer and Interim Chief Financial Officer of Sidney Federal Savings and 
Loan Association, in his capacity as an officer of Sidney Federal Savings and Loan Association that he has reviewed 
the annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2018 (the “Report”) and that to the best of his 
knowledge: 

1. the Report fully complies with the requirements of Sections 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934; and

2. the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial
condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date: April 12, 2019 /s/ Steve Smith 
Steve Smith 
President, Chief Executive Officer and Interim Chief 
Financial Officer 

The purpose of this statement is solely to comply with Title 18, Chapter 63, Section 1350 of the United States Code, 
as amended by Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. 

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to Sidney Federal Savings and 
Loan Association and will be retained by Sidney Federal Savings and Loan Association and furnished to the Office 
of the Comptroller of the Currency or its staff upon request. 




